
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
 

This meeting will be recorded and the sound recording subsequently made available via 
the Council’s website: charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees 
 
Please also note that under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 
that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this meeting.  The use of any 
images or sound recordings is not under the Council’s control. 
 

 
 
To: Councillors Bolton, Hadji-Nikolaou, Brookes, Hamilton (Deputy Chair), Parton, Ranson 

and Seaton (Chair) (For attention) 
 

All other members of the Council 
(For information) 

 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Scrutiny Commission to be held in council 
offices on Monday, 12th October 2020 at 6.00 pm for the following business. 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Southfields 
Loughborough 
 
2nd October 2020 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

5 - 13 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Commission held on 14th September 
2020.  

 
3.   DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTERESTS 

 
 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF THE PARTY WHIP  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

file:///C:/Users/karenw/AppData/local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/NU3M8P7G/charnwood.gov.uk/pages/committees


 

 
5.   QUESTIONS UNDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROCEDURES 

11.16 
 

 

 No questions were submitted. 
 

6.   REVIEW OF SCRUTINY FUNCTION ARISING FROM THE COVID-
19 PANDEMIC 
 

14 - 15 

 A report of the Head of Strategic Support to enable the Commission to review the 
scrutiny function arrangements put in place on the advice of the Centre for Public 
Governance and Scrutiny (CfPGS) in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
7.   AUDIT UPDATE 

 
 

 There is no update for the Commission. 
 

8.   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF ANY SPECIFIC FINANCIAL 
MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED BY CABINET 
 

 

 There are no items of this nature for the Commission to consider. 
 

9.   CABINET ITEMS FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY 
 

 

 The following items have been identified for pre-decision scrutiny from the Cabinet 
agenda for 15th October 2020 in order to make recommendations as appropriate 
to Cabinet: 

 
 (a)   Changes to the Procurement Service  

A report of the Strategic Director for Commercial 
Development which seeks authority to enter into a Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) with Nottingham City Council and 
seeks delegations to conduct negotiations and enter into said 
agreement. 
 

16 - 63 

 (b)   Commercialisation Position Statement  
A report of the Strategic Director for Commercial 
Development containing the Council’s Position Statement on 
Commercialism and how it is intended to realise the initiative. 
 

64 - 70 

10.   SCRUTINY COMMISSION PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY - CABINET 
RESPONSE 
 

71 - 72 

 A report of the Cabinet setting out its responses to recommendations of the 
Committee on pre-decision scrutiny items. 

 
11.   SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME 

 
73 - 88 

 A report of the Head of Strategic Support setting out the list of forthcoming 
Executive Key Decisions and the Group’s Work Programme for consideration, in 
order to identify items for future scrutiny. 
   

Page 2



 

For information, further meetings of the Group are scheduled as follows: 
 
16th November 2020 
7th December 2020   
11th January 2021     

 

Page 3



 

SCRUTINY QUESTIONS 

 
What topics to choose? 

    
• What difference will scrutiny make? 
• Is this an area of concern – public/performance/risk register? 
• Is this a corporate priority? 
• Could scrutiny lead to improvements?  
• What are the alternatives to pre-decision scrutiny? 

 
Pre-decision scrutiny 
 

• What is Cabinet being asked to agree? 
• Why?  
• How does this relate to the overall objective? Which is …? 
• What risks have been identified and how are they being addressed? 
• What are the financial implications? 

 
• What other options have been considered? 
• Who has been consulted and what were the results? 
• Will the decision Cabinet is being asked to take affect other policies, practices etc.? 

 
Basic Questions 
 

• Why are you/we doing this? 
• Why are you/we doing it in this way? 
• How do you/we know you are making a difference? 
• How are priorities and targets set? 
• How do you/we compare? 
• What examples of good practice exist elsewhere? 

 

Page 4



 

 

1 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
14TH SEPTEMBER 2020 

 
PRESENT:  The Chair (Councillor Seaton) 

The Vice Chair (Councillor Hamilton) 
 Councillors Bolton, Hadji-Nikolaou, Brookes, 

Grimley and Parton 
  

Councillors Harper-Davies (Cabinet Lead Member 
for Community Support and Equalities), Morgan 
(Leader of the Council) and Smidowicz (Cabinet 
Lead Member for Strategic Support) 
 

 Chief Executive 
Strategic Director of Corporate Services 
Head of Neighbourhood Services 
Head of Regulatory Services 
Neighbourhoods and Partnerships Manager 
Information Technology Delivery Manager 
Community Safety Manager 
Corporate Health & Safety Officer 
Information Development Manager 

 Democratic Services Officer (SW) 

 
APOLOGIES: Councillor Ranson 

 
The Chair stated that the meeting would be recorded and the sound recording 
subsequently made available via the Council’s website.  She also advised that, under 
the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, other people may film, 
record, tweet or blog from this meeting, and the use of any such images or sound 
recordings was not under the Council’s control. 
 

43. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Commission held on 10th August 2020 were 
approved. 
 

44. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY AND PERSONAL INTERESTS  
 
No disclosures were made. 
 

45. DECLARATIONS OF THE PARTY WHIP  
 
No declarations were made. 
 

46. QUESTIONS UNDER SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROCEDURES 11.16  
 
No questions were submitted. 
 

47. RECOVERY CELL UPDATE  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 

2 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

 
A report of the Strategic Director of Corporate Services to provide the Commission 
with more detail on the approach to organisational recovery was considered (item 6 on 
the agenda filed with these minutes). 
 
The Strategic Director or Corporate Services attended the meeting, provided a 
presentation and assisted with the consideration of this item. The Leader of the 
Council, the Chief Executive, the Head of Regulatory Services and the Information 
Technology Delivery Manager also attended the meeting to assist with the 
consideration of this item. The following summarises the discussion: 
 

i. The Council had worked closely with the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 
throughout the pandemic and had participated in multi-agency meetings at 
various levels, such as the Strategic Recovery Group, the Tactical Recovery 
Group and a number of recovery cells. There was also a Nominated Contact 
Officer whose role was to regularly liaise between the Council and the LRF. 
The pandemic was included within the LRF’s risk register and so the Council 
was able to act quickly at the outbreak with support from the LRF. 
 

ii. The pandemic had enabled the Council to develop a more appropriate and 
agile work culture and the Leader acknowledged that all Officers across the 
Council had successfully adapted to new working practices and had embraced 
the challenge. He recognised and gave thanks to the Chief Executive, Directors 
and Officers at all levels for enabling the transition. 
 

iii. It was recognised that Display Screen Equipment (DSE) assessments were 
relatively easy to undertake in an office environment and were more difficult 
when colleagues were working from home. The Council had developed an 
interim solution at the start of the pandemic, which included a training module 
on self-assessment. A more comprehensive risk assessment had been 
developed following the extension in home working. This referred to working 
environments, work equipment, the organisation of work and the physical and 
mental wellbeing of staff, amongst other things. Members of staff were provided 
with training materials, demonstration videos and guidance documents. There 
had been consultation with Trade Unions and employees regarding the process 
of developing a long-term health and safety solution and it was acknowledged 
that policies and procedures developed change as working practices develop. 
There was confidence in the approach and Members were assured that all 
issues were being considered carefully and that all actions were being closed.  
 

iv. It was recognised that some members of staff preferred to work in an office 
environment, and some were not able to work from home. The agile working 
policy would refer to this and would give staff more choice in their working 
environments, providing this reflected the business needs of the relevant 
service within the Council. The preferred working practice of the Council was 
that staff that were able to should continue to work from home at present. The 
Council was monitoring infection rates in the community closely and ensuring 
appropriate controls were in place to help prevent infection in offices and this 
enabled some staff to work in the office environment if there was a requirement.  
 

Page 6



 

 

3 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

v. The Council was conscious of the potential implications of home working on the 
mental and physical wellbeing of staff and had taken action to prevent negative 
impacts. In addition, the Council would continue to consider this and would 
develop further solutions. 

 
RESOLVED that the Commission noted the report. 
 
Reason 
 
To ensure the Commission was kept informed of the Council’s recovery efforts.  
 
Alan Twells and Aymen Khan left the meeting at approximately 6:50pm. 
 

48. AUDIT COMMITTEE UPDATE  
 
A report of the Head of Strategic Support to update the Commission on developments 
in the relationship between the Scrutiny Commission and the Audit Committee 
following advice from the Centre for Public Scrutiny during the Covid-19 pandemic 
was considered (item 7 on the agenda filed with these minutes). 
 
The Head of Strategic Support assisted with the consideration of this item and the 
following summarises the discussion: 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted and that Bev Angell, the Chair of Audit 
Committee, be a co-opted member of the Budget Scrutiny Panel. 
 
Reason 
 
To ensure the relationship between the Council’s audit and financial scrutiny functions 
was maintained.  
 

49. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF ANY SPECIFIC FINANCIAL MATTERS TO BE 
CONSIDERED BY CABINET  
 
There were no items of this nature for the Commission to consider. 
 
Councillor Morgan and Rob Mitchell left the meeting at approximately 7pm.  
 

50. CABINET ITEMS FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY  
 
The following items were identified for pre-decision scrutiny from the Cabinet agenda 
for 17th September 2020. 
 

51. ANNUAL HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT 2019-20  
 
Councillor Parton joined the meeting at 7:06pm. 
 
Councillor Bolton experienced connectivity issues during the consideration of this item.  
 

Page 7



 

 

4 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

A Cabinet report of the Head of Strategic Support to inform Cabinet and provide a 
public record of the Council’s health and safety performance was considered for pre-
decision scrutiny (item 9a on the agenda filed with these minutes). 
 
The Lead Member for Strategic Support, the Head of Strategic Support and the Health 
and Safety Officer assisted with the consideration of this item. The following 
summarises the discussion: 
 

i. The data presented on incidents of injury were wide ranging and did not result 
in serious impact to Officers. Officers were provided with appropriate training, 
tools and PPE to reflect their role to reduce the risk of injury. 
 

ii. It was noted that the perceived reduction in accidents and incidents over the 
past year could in part be due to a vast increase in Officers working from home 
and some services operating at a reduced capacity due to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 

iii. Officers working from home had continued to report accidents and injury and 
each case was assessed individually. If the role undertaken by an Officer 
required a specific work act, and this was related to the accident or injury 
sustained, then it would be recorded as a work-related accident or injury. It was 
highlighted that Officers working from home were encouraged to continue to 
report any accidents or injuries and that the respective Manager was also kept 
informed. 
 

iv. One recorded accident or injury was anticipated to result in an insurance claim 
against the Council, although the progress of this claim was unknown at the 
time of the meeting. 
 

v. Officers working from home were encouraged to check and verify their home 
insurance policy as part of the comprehensive home working assessment, and 
subsequently disclose their working practices and environment to their 
insurance company where applicable.  
 

vi. It was acknowledged that health and safety practices were appropriately 
adapting to accommodate for new working arrangements. 

 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet be informed that the Commission supports the 
recommendation as set out in the report of the Head of Strategic Support. 
  
Reason    
 
The Commission, having carefully considered the report, felt the Cabinet should 
approve the recommendation set out. 
 

52. CHARNWOOD COMMUNITY LOTTERY REVIEW  
 
Anthony O’Brien left the meeting at approximately 7:20pm. 
 
Verity Graham experienced connectivity issues during the consideration of this item. 

Page 8



 

 

5 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

 
A Cabinet report of the Head of Neighbourhood Services to review the Charnwood 
Community Lottery scheme 18 months after the first lottery draw in line with the 
original Cabinet report recommendations was considered for pre-decision scrutiny 
(item 9b on the agenda filed with these minutes). 
 
The Lead Member for Community Support and Equalities, the Head of Neighbourhood 
Services and the Neighbourhoods and Partnerships Manager assisted with the 
consideration of this item. The following summarises the discussion: 
 

i. The Community Lottery was promoted by Officers at local events and on 
market days in Loughborough Town Centre.  

 
ii. The Community Lottery scheme had maintained its support throughout the 

Covid-19 pandemic, despite an anticipated decrease. It was considered that 
without the pandemic, support for the lottery may have increased. 

 
iii. Officer time was not specifically allocated to the promotion of the Charnwood 

Lottery, but was part of all roles within the team. Promotional activities involved 
Officers discussing the scheme with members of the public and community 
organisations where possible and regular promotion through the internal 
Communications team at the Council. Therefore, it was difficult to identify a 
specific financial cost to the Council. 
 

iv. There was a suggestion that the lottery be promoted wider and that an increase 
in communications were targeted at players in order to increase understanding 
of the process and the way in which the money raised was utilised by the 
organisations that benefitted. It was highlighted that the individual organisations 
involved in the scheme were responsible for their own promotional activities 
and that this varied. The Council regularly liaised with organisations involved to 
encourage an increase in their communications and marketing to customers 
and would continue to do so. Training had been organised by the Council in 
order to further facilitate this, although this did not occur due to the Covid-19 
pandemic. The target of 1,000 ticket sales per year was encouraged by a 
strategy involving an enhanced communications plan which would begin in the 
coming weeks. 
 

v. It was suggested that the Council provided guidance and further information on 
the process of the scheme as it was acknowledged that some players were not 
fully aware of the positive impact that the lottery had on the community. There 
was extensive information available on the website and this would be 
highlighted to players.  
 

vi. The scheme did not involve intensive marketing towards existing, previous or 
potential supporters. 

 
RESOLVED  
 

Page 9



 

 

6 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

1. that the Cabinet be informed that the Commission supports the 
recommendations as set out in the report of the Head of Neighbourhood 
Services. 

 
2. that the Head of Neighbourhood Services be asked to review the way the 

Council communicates to its Lottery supporters on its impact within the 
community.  

  
Reasons   
 

1. The Commission, having carefully considered the report, felt the Cabinet should 
approve the recommendations set out. 

 
2. To ensure supporters of the Charnwood Community Lottery were 

knowledgeable and informed on the scheme and the positive impact which they 
were funding. 

 
Verity Graham left the meeting at approximately 7:40pm. 
 

53. PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) LOUGHBOROUGH TOWN 
CENTRE  
 
A Cabinet report of the Head of Neighbourhood Services seeking approval to extend 
the current Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for Loughborough Town Centre 
for a further three year period was considered for pre-decision scrutiny (item 9c on the 
agenda filed with these minutes). 
 
The Lead Member for Community Support and Equalities, the Head of Neighbourhood 
Services and the Community Safety Manager assisted with the consideration of this 
item. It was acknowledged that there was an error within the report on page 80 of the 
agenda, which suggested that the consultation had covered the period between 24th 
July 2020 and 7th August 2020. The actual period was between 24th June 2020 and 
7th August 2020. 
 
The following summarises the discussion: 
 

i. The risk that approval was not provided to extend the PSPO past 20th October 
2020 was considered low as legal regulations had been adhered to and so was 
unlikely to be subject to legal challenge. 
 

ii. It was acknowledged that delegated authority existed for the Head of 
Neighbourhoods and Communities, as outlined in section 8.3 of the Council’s 
Constitution. There was a suggestion that the rationale for the delegated 
authority be emphasized as part of recommendation 2 of the report.  
 

iii. The maximum amount of extension time for the PSPO was three years. In 
anticipation of this term expiring, the Council could make preparations for 
further extension. Any substantial changes to the PSPO would be considered 
by Cabinet. 

 

Page 10



 

 

7 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

iv. The consultation had received 129 responses which was consistent with 
previous consultations. It was acknowledged that there was a lack of formal 
responses from local businesses and partners and this was considered to be 
due to the ongoing dialogue between the Council and these organisations 
throughout the consultation period.  
 

v. The Southfields Park was not included within the PSPO but was within the Civil 
Injunction area imposed. A Civil Injunction was considered to be the most 
appropriate course of action, given the issues experienced in the area, 
involving drug use and begging. If there was a recognised requirement for a 
PSPO covering the Southfields Park area, then evidence would be sought in 
order to facilitate this.  

 
RESOLVED  
 

1. that the Cabinet be informed that the Commission supports the 
recommendations as set out in the report of the Head of Neighbourhood 
Services, subject to: 

 

 the reason for recommendation 2 of the report including a clearer 
rationale for the requirement of the delegated authority, be noted. 
 

2. that the correction to the report reflecting the correct consultation period of 24th 
June 2020 to 7th August 2020, be noted. 

  
Reasons    
 

1. The Commission, having carefully considered the report, wished the Cabinet to 
approve the recommendations set out but considered further clarification was 
required on the delegated authority function in relation to the PSPO, outlined in 
the Constitution for the Head of Neighbourhood Services. 
 

2. To ensure the information within the report was accurate. 
 

54. SCRUTINY COMMISSION PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY - CABINET RESPONSE  
 
Tim McCabe, Julie Robinson and Councillor Harper-Davies left the meeting at 
approximately 8:05pm. 
 
A report of the Cabinet was considered setting out its responses to the 
recommendations of the Commission on pre-decision scrutiny items (item 10 on the 
agenda filed with these minutes).       
  
RESOLVED that the Cabinet’s responses to the Commission’s recommendations be 
noted.  
  
Reason 
 

Page 11



 

 

8 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

The Commission was satisfied that it added value where appropriate and welcomed 
the Cabinet’s consideration of the Commission’s views and recommendations as part 
of its decision making process. 
 

55. SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME  
 
A report of the Head of Strategic Support was considered to enable the Commission 
to review its own work programme, including considering the list of forthcoming 
Executive Key Decisions in order to schedule items for pre-decision scrutiny (item 11 
on the agenda filed with these minutes).  
 
The Head of Strategic Support assisted with the consideration of this item. The 
Commission added the following items to the work programme: 
 

i. Pre-decision scrutiny - Changes to Procurement Service – To consider entering 

into a public SLA to deliver the Procurement Service on behalf of the Council - 

12th October 2020. 

 
ii. Commercialisation Update - To review the commercialisation development 

plans and the progress against the recommendations made by the 

Commercialisation Scrutiny Panel, six months after its recommendations were 

considered by the Cabinet. This would need to include commercial entities that 

the Council had become involved in and any commercial opportunities the 

Council was seeking – 11th January 2020. 

RESOLVED 
 

1.  that forthcoming Executive Key Decisions or decisions to be taken in private by 

the Executive, set out in Appendix 2 to the report, and scheduled scrutiny of 

those matters, be noted. 

 
2. that the Commission’s current work programme be noted. 

 
3. that following items be added to the Scrutiny Commission Work Programme: 

 

 Pre-decision Scrutiny – Changes to Procurement Service – 12th October 

2020, 

 

 Commercialisation Update – 11th January 2020. 

Reasons  
 
1&3. To ensure effective and timely scrutiny, either to provide Cabinet with advice 

prior to it taking a decision or to ensure that the Council and external public 
service providers and partners were operating effectively for the benefit of the 
Borough.      

  
2. To ensure effective and timely scrutiny.  

Page 12



 

 

9 
 

Scrutiny Commission - 14th September 2020 
Published -  

 

 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. No reference may be made to these minutes at the Council meeting on 9th 

November 2020 unless notice to that effect is given to the Democratic Services 
Manager by five members of the Council by noon on the fifth working day following 
publication of these minutes. 
 

2. These minutes are subject to confirmation as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the Scrutiny Commission. 

 

Page 13



SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 12TH OCTOBER 2020 
 

Report of the Head of Strategic Support 
 
ITEM 6  REVIEW OF THE SCRUTINY FUNCTION ARISING FROM THE 

COVID-19 PANDEMIC  
 
Purpose of Report 
 
To enable the Commission to review the scrutiny function arrangements put in place 
on the advice of the Centre for Public Governance and Scrutiny (CfPGS) in light of the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
Actions Requested 
 
That the Commission determines whether to continue with the suspension of the 
current cycle of directorate-based Scrutiny Committee meetings and Scrutiny Panel 
work,  with a further review date. 
 
Reason  
 
To ensure that Council resources are focussed in the most appropriately.  
 
Background 
 
The CfPGS in its review of how scrutiny should work during the COVID crisis 
suggested that Councils should focus on aspects related to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
including responses and recovery efforts. As a result, at its meeting on 1st June 2020, 
the Commission resolved to focus on the following: 
 

 A single substantive agenda item for each meeting to concentrate on one of the 
Council’s recovery cells; organisational recovery, economic recovery and 
community recovery, 

 A strengthened relationship between the Scrutiny Commission and the Audit 
Committee (meetings between the Chair of the Scrutiny Commission and the 
Chair of the Audit Committee scheduled regularly). 

 The use of ‘Questions under Scrutiny Committee Procedure 11.16’ as set out 
in the Constitution. 

 The ordinary pre-decision scrutiny of scheduled Cabinet items. 
 
As such the current cycle of directorate-based Scrutiny Committee meetings and 
Scrutiny Panel work was suspended for six months until 30th November 2020.  It is 
therefore timely for the Commission to consider how it wishes to proceed taking into 
account the continued uncertainty regarding the impact of the Pandemic, the 
timeframe for recovery and the level of Council resources required to re-start the full 
complement of scrutiny meetings and panels..  
 
It is worth noting that at this stage, the Commission has received an update on all 
three of the Recovery Cells. 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 

 

Appendices: None 
 

Background Papers: 
 

None 

Officer to Contact: Karen Widdowson 
Democratic Services Manager 
(01509) 634785 
Karen.widdowson@charnwood.gov.uk 

 

Page 15



CABINET - 15TH OCTOBER 2020 

 

Report of the Strategic Director – Commercial Development 

Lead Member: Councillor Tom Barkley, Deputy Leader 

 

Part A 

 

ITEM CHANGES TO THE PROCUREMENT SERVICE 

 

Purpose of Report 

This report seeks authority to enter into a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with 
Nottingham City Council and seeks delegations to conduct negotiations and enter into 
said agreement.  

 

Recommendation   

That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director – Commercial Development to 
negotiate, agree and enter into a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with representatives 
of Nottingham City Council for the provision of procurement services to Charnwood 
Borough Council in line with the details provided in the report. 

 

Reason 

In order to provide an enhanced procurement service to support the Council in delivery 
of savings and cost avoidance for the MTFS. 

 

Policy Justification and Previous Decisions 

Charnwood Borough Council (CBC) and Nottingham City Council (NCC) are local 
authorities for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972 and best value 
authorities for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1999. Pursuant to the Local 
Authority (Goods and Services) Act 1970 local authorities may provide services for 
other public authorities. The proposed arrangement will be established pursuant to the 
1970 Act. Legal Services will provide advice and assistance as part of the transfer to 
the new arrangements and will ensure a suitable Service Level Agreement is agreed. 
As an interim measure, Legal Services will also assist in the preparation of a 
Memorandum of understanding if this is the most expedient approach to formalising 
interim arrangements. 

 

Implementation Timetable including Future Decisions and Scrutiny 

The decision will come into effect immediately, subject to Call-in.  

The target date for implementation of the Service Level Agreement is 29 January 2021. 

 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 9a



Report Implications 

The following implications have been identified for this report. 

 

Financial Implications 

The cost of the service is £55,000 per year and the proposed arrangement will last for 
3 years.  

In conjunction with the appointment of Nottingham City Council, two posts of the 
establishment will be deleted. The total salary budget for these posts of £70,100 will 
be replaced by the cost of the service and will provide a residual savings to the General 
Fund Revenue Account of £15,100 per year. 

 

Post  Budget 20/21 

Procurement Manager L310 £56,500 

Procurement Assistant M267 £13,600 

Total Budget £70,100 

Less the annual cost of the service -£55,000 

Savings to the General Fund Revenue Account £15,100 

 

Risk Management 

The risks associated with the decision Cabinet is asked to make and proposed actions 
to mitigate those risks are set out in the table below. 

Risk Identified Likelihood Impact Overall 
Risk 

Risk Management 
Actions Planned 

That NCC do not 
wish to provide the 
service 

Remote 

(1) 

Minor 

(1) 

Very Low 

(1) 

NCC officers have 
obtained authorisation to 
provide the service to 
CBC. 

That the service 
provides limited 
benefits to CBC Remote 

(1) 

Serious 

(3) 

Low 

(3) 

As is evidenced by other 
local authorities that 
have used this service, 
significant financial 
benefits can be 
achieved. 

That CBC 
employees do not 
engage fully with 
the new service 

Unlikely 

(2) 

Serious 

(3) 

Moderate 

(6) 

An implementation 
programme will be 
provided for all 
managers. Contract 
Procedure Rules will be 
updated to align to the 
service. 

 

 

 

Page 17



Equality and Diversity 

No implications 

 

Crime and Disorder 

No implications 

 

Sustainability 

No implications 

 

Key Decision:   Yes 

Background Papers:  None 

Officer to contact:   Justin Henry 

     Strategic Director – Commercial Development 

07802 760618 

justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk  

 

Page 18

mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk


Part B 

 

Introduction 

1. Robust procurement is essential to the Council to obtain value for money in purchasing 
goods and services as well as to drive cashable savings and cost avoidance. 

2. In the context of the financial challenges facing the Council now and through the 
medium term, it is more important than ever that this service is fit for purpose and able 
to support a range of procurement activity. 

3. The current Procurement team at the Council consists of two employees: one 
permanent junior officer and one interim procurement manager whose contract will 
expire in January 2021. Whilst there is no complaint about the efficacy and quality of 
the service currently being delivered by these officers, the resources the Council will 
require in the future will far outweigh the current team’s capacity. 

4. There are a number of public sector procurement partnerships available which the 
Council could join to help bolster their capacity; however, the services provided may 
vary significantly (e.g. capital project and large contract experience) as well as the level 
of professional expertise (e.g. the number of procurement officers with professional 
accreditation).  

5. This report therefore sets out the case for contracting such a service from Nottingham 
City Council (NCC).  

NCC’s service 

6. Under powers granted by the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970, public 
bodies can enter contracts with other public bodies for the provision of goods and 
services.  

7. NCC was approached by Ashfield District Council (ADC) in January 2018. ADC had 
benchmarked several procurement partnership options prior to this point, and enquired 
with NCC if their services could be provided in the same fashion. Under agreement 
obtained in March 2018, NCC and ADC formulated a procurement service that remains 
in situ today and has 3 member Districts (ADC, Mansfield District Council, and 
Bassetlaw District Council). 

8. The NCC procurement team supporting NCC procurement and this service to Districts 
consists of 20+ officers who are professionally accredited to lead and support large 
procurement activities such as IT contracts, building/development contracts and 
service provider contracts. Furthermore, whilst NCC would provide a main contact for 
Charnwood Borough Council, work undertaken to support us will be spread amongst 
the team, providing resilience for sickness and holiday absence.  

9. NCC spend levels are generally 10 times larger than a District Council which allows 
NCC to purchase goods and services at more effective prices. As a unitary, many 
procured elements will be analogous to those purchased by this Council, thereby 
providing experience and potential leverage of spend to achieve best value for 
Charnwood.  

10.  The results delivered by this service are tangible. In the financial year 19/20, NCC 
achieved £700,000 of cost avoidance for ADC. The service was also audited by ADC’s 
audit team and received an assured rating.   

Page 19



11. Should we not be satisfied with the service as delivered, the agreement can be 
terminated by either side with 12 months’ written notice (see the appendix for the Draft 
Service Level Agreement). 

Financial Implications   

12. The cost of the service is £55,000 per year and the proposed arrangement will last for 
3 years.  

13. In conjunction with the appointment of Nottingham City Council, two posts of the 
current establishment will be deleted. Those posts are: 
 

Post  Budget 20/21 

Procurement Manager L310 (interim) £56,500 

Procurement Assistant M267 (vacant) £13,600 

Total  £70,100 

 
14. The total salary budget of £70,100 will be replaced by the cost of the service and will 

provide a residual savings to the General Fund Revenue Account of £15,100 per year.  
 
Employee Implications 

15. The contract for the interim Procurement Manager post will end in January 2021. The 
current Senior Procurement Officer post is unaffected and will remain part of the 
establishment. 

 

 

Page 20



Appendix: DRAFT SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

DATED 

------------ 

SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

FOR THE PROVISION OF PROCUREMENT SERVICES  

between 

XXXXXXXX COUNCIL  

and 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL

Page 21



1 

Page 22



2 

This agreement is dated  

Parties 

(1) XXXXXXX of XXXXXXXXXXXXX (Authority)  

(2) NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL of Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham NG2 

3NG (Supplier)  

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Authority requires procurement services in order to ensure that contracts are 

procured in accordance with legislative requirements and provide best value to the 

Authority. 

(B) The Supplier is able to provide procurement services to assist the Authority in 

procuring its corporate contracts. 

Agreed terms 

1. Definitions and Interpretation 

1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation in this clause apply in this 

agreement. 

 Authorised Representatives: the persons respectively designated as such by the 

Authority and the Supplier, the first such persons being set out in Schedule 3. 

 Authority Assets: any materials, software, equipment, internet access and welfare 

facilities owned or held by the Authority and provided by the Authority to the Supplier 

for use in providing the Services as outlined in clause 8 

 Authority's Premises: XXXXXXXXXX which are to be made available for use by the 

Supplier on the terms set out in this agreement. 

 Best Industry Practice: the standards which fall within the upper quartile in the 

relevant industry for the provision of comparable services which are substantially 

similar to the Services or the relevant part of them, having regard to factors such as 

the nature and size of the parties, the term, the pricing structure and any other relevant 

factors. 

 Bribery Act: the Bribery Act 2010 together with any guidance or codes of practice 

issued by the relevant government department concerning the legislation. 

 Catastrophic Failure: any action by the Supplier, whether in relation to the Services 

and this agreement or otherwise, which in the reasonable opinion of the Authority's 

Authorised Representative has or may cause significant harm to the reputation of the 

Authority. 

Change: any change to this agreement including to any of the Services. 

 Change Control Note: the written record of a Change agreed or to be agreed by the 

parties pursuant to the Change Control Procedure. 

Page 23



3 

 Change Control Procedure: the procedure for changing this agreement, as set out in 

Schedule 4. 

 Charges: the charges which shall become due and payable by the Authority to the 

Supplier in respect of the Services in accordance with the provisions of this agreement, 

as such charges are set out in Schedule 2. 

 Confidential Information: means all confidential information (however recorded or 

preserved) disclosed by a party or its Representatives to the other party and that 

party's Representatives in connection with this agreement, including but not limited to: 

a) any information that would be regarded as confidential by a reasonable 

business person relating to: (i) the business, affairs, customers, suppliers or 

plans of the disclosing party; and (ii) the operations, processes, product 

information, know-how, designs, trade secrets or software of the disclosing 

party; 

b) any information developed by the parties in the course of carrying out 

this agreement; 

c) Personal Data; 

 Contract Year: a period of 12 months, commencing on Service Commencement Date. 

 Controller: as defined in the Data Protection Legislation.  

 Data Protection Legislation: the UK Data Protection Legislation and any other 

European Union legislation relating to personal data and all other legislation and 

regulatory requirements in force from time to time which apply to a party relating to the 

use of Personal Data (including, without limitation, the privacy of electronic 

communications) and the guidance and codes of practice issued by the relevant data 

protection or supervisory authority and applicable to a party. 

 Data Subject: as defined in the Data Protection Legislation. 

 Default: any breach of the obligations of the relevant party (including abandonment of 

this agreement in breach of its terms, repudiatory breach or breach of a fundamental 

term) or any other default, act, omission, negligence of statement:  

a) in the case of the Authority, of its employees, servants, agents; 

b) in the case of the Supplier, of its Sub-contractors or any Supplier 

Personnel,  

 in connection with or in relation to the subject matters of this agreement and in respect 

of which such party is liable to the other. 

 Default Notice: is defined in clause 4.2. 

 Dispute Resolution Procedure: the procedure set out in clause 18. 

 EIRs: the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (SI 2004/3391) together with 

any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or 

relevant government department in relation to such regulations. 

  

Page 24



4 

 FOIA: the Freedom of Information Act 2000 together with any guidance and/or codes 

of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant government 

department in relation to such legislation. 

 Force Majeure: any circumstance not within a party's reasonable control including, 

without limitation: 

a) acts of God, flood, drought, earthquake or other natural disaster;  

b) epidemic or pandemic;  

c) terrorist attack, civil war, civil commotion or riots, war, threat of or 

preparation for war, armed conflict, imposition of sanctions, embargo, or 

breaking off of diplomatic relations;  

d) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination or sonic boom; 

e) any law or action taken by a government or public authority, including 

without limitation imposing an export or import restriction, quota or prohibition; 

f) collapse of buildings, fire, explosion or accident; and 

g) any labour or trade dispute, strikes, industrial action or lockouts 

(excluding any labour or trade dispute, strike, industrial action or lockout 

confined to the Supplier's workforce or the workforce of any Subcontractor of 

the Supplier).  

 Health and Safety Policy: the health and safety policy of the Authority as provided to 

the Supplier on or before the Service Commencement Date and as subsequently 

provided to the Supplier from time to time except any provision of any such 

subsequently provided policy that cannot be reasonably reconciled to ensuring 

compliance with applicable Law regarding health and safety. 

 Information: has the meaning given under section 84 of FOIA. 

 Law: means any legal provision the Supplier must comply with including any law, 

statute, subordinate legislation within the meaning of section 21(1) of the Interpretation 

Act 1978, bye-law, enforceable right within the meaning of section 2 of the European 

Communities Act 1972, regulation, order, mandatory guidance or code of practice, 

judgment of a relevant court of law, or directives or requirements of any regulatory 

body, whether in the UK or elsewhere. 

 Management Reports: the reports to be prepared and presented by the Supplier in 

accordance with clause 15 and Schedule 3. 

 Necessary Consents: all approvals, certificates, authorisations, permissions, 

licences, permits, regulations and consents necessary from time to time for the 

performance of the Services. 

 Payment Plan: the plan for payment of the Charges as set out in Schedule 2. 

 Personal Data: as defined in the Data Protection Legislation. 

 Processor: as defined in the Data Protection Legislation. 

 Prohibited Act: the following constitute Prohibited Acts: 

Page 25



5 

a) to directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any person working for or 

engaged by the Authority a financial or other advantage as an inducement or 

reward for any improper performance of a relevant function of activity in 

relation to obtaining this agreement or any other contract with the Supplier; 

b) to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any financial 

or other advantage as an inducement or a reward for improper performance 

of a relevant function or activity in connection with this agreement; 

c) committing any offence: (i) under the Bribery Act; (ii) under legislation 

or common law concerning fraudulent acts; or (iii) of defrauding, attempting to 

defraud or conspiring to defraud the Authority; 

d) any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute one of the 

offences listed under (c) above, if such activity, practice or conduct had been 

carried out in the UK.  

 Relevant Requirements: all applicable law relating to bribery, corruption and fraud, 

including the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State for 

Justice pursuant to section 9 of the Bribery Act 2010. 

 Remediation Notice: a notice served by the Authority in accordance with clause 

27.1(a). 

 Replacement Services: any services that are identical or substantially similar to any 

of the Services and which the Authority receives in substitution for any of the Services 

following the termination or expiry of this agreement, whether those services are 

provided by the Authority internally or by any Replacement Supplier.  

 Replacement Supplier: any third party supplier of Replacement Services appointed 

by the Authority from time to time. 

 Representatives: means, in relation to a party, its employees, officers, 

representatives and advisors.  

 Request for Information: a request for information or an apparent request under the 

FOIA or the EIRs. 

 Services: the services to be delivered by or on behalf of the Supplier under this 

agreement, as more particularly described in Schedule 1.  

 Service Commencement Date: DATE 

 Supplier Party: the Supplier's agents and contractors, including each Sub-Contractor. 

 Supplier Personnel: all employees, staff, other workers, agents and consultants of 

the Supplier and of any Sub-Contractors who are engaged in the provision of the 

Services from time to time.  

 Term: means the period starting on the Service Commencement Date and ending on 

DATE or the earlier termination of this agreement in accordance with its terms. 

 Termination Date: the date of expiry or termination of this agreement. 

 Termination Notice: any notice to terminate this agreement in accordance with clause 

27 (Termination) 

Page 26



6 

 Termination Payment Default: is defined in Schedule 2. 

 TUPE: the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (SI 

2006/246). 

 UK Data Protection Legislation: all applicable data protection and privacy legislation 

in force from time to time in the UK including the General Data Protection Regulation 

((EU) 2016/679), the Data Protection Act 2018, the Privacy and Electronic 

Communications Directive 2002/58/EC (as updated by Directive 2009/136/EC) and the 

Privacy and Electronic Communications Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426) as 

amended.  

 Working Day: Monday to Friday, excluding any public holidays in England and Wales. 

 Working Hours: the period from 9.00 am to 5.00pm on any Working Day. 

1.2 Clause, schedule and paragraph headings shall not affect the interpretation of this 

agreement.  

1.3 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body (whether or not 

having separate legal personality).  

1.4 The schedules, appendices and annexures form part of this agreement and shall have 

effect as if set out in full in the body of this agreement and any reference to this 

agreement includes the schedules, appendices and annexures.  

1.5 A reference to a company shall include any company, corporation or other body 

corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established.  

1.6 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular shall include the plural 

and in the plural shall include the singular.  

1.7 Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to one gender shall include a 

reference to the other genders.  

1.8 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, extended 

or re-enacted from time to time and includes any subordinate legislation for the time 

being in force made under it.  

1.9 Any obligation in this agreement on a person not to do something includes an 

obligation not to agree or allow that thing to be done. 

1.10 A reference in this agreement to any other agreement or a document is a reference to 

such other agreement or document as varied or novated (in each case, other than in 

breach of the provisions of this agreement) from time to time.  

1.11 References to clauses and schedules are to the clauses and schedules of this 

agreement and references to paragraphs are to paragraphs of the relevant schedule.  

Page 27



7 

1.12 Any words following the terms including, include, in particular or any similar expression 

shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the words, description, 

definition, phrase or term preceding those terms. 

 

 

Commencement and duration 

2. Term 

2.1 This agreement shall take effect on the Service Commencement Date and shall 

continue for the Term until its expiry in accordance with clause 27. 

3. Not Used 

The services 

4. Supply of services 

4.1 The Supplier shall provide the Services to the Authority with effect from the Service 

Commencement Date and for the duration of this agreement in accordance with the 

provisions of this agreement, including without limitation Schedule 1. 

4.2 In the event that the Supplier does not comply with the provisions of clause 4.1 in any 

way, the Authority may serve the Supplier with a notice in writing setting out the details 

of the Supplier's default (a Default Notice). 

5. Not Used 

6. Service standards 

The Supplier shall provide the Services, or procure that they are provided:  

(a) with reasonable skill and care and in accordance with Best Industry Practice; 

(b) in all respects in accordance with the Authority's relevant and notified policies; 

and 

(c) in accordance with all applicable Law. 

7. Compliance 

7.1 The Supplier shall ensure that all Necessary Consents are in place to provide the 

Services and the Authority shall not (unless otherwise agreed in writing) incur any 

additional costs associated with obtaining, maintaining or complying with the same. 

7.2 Where there is any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this agreement 

and the requirements of a Necessary Consent, then the latter shall prevail, provided 

that the Supplier has made all reasonable attempts to obtain a Necessary Consent in 

Page 28



8 

line with the requirements of the Services and the Supplier has notified the Authority 

in writing. 

7.3 The Supplier shall (and shall procure that the Supplier Personnel shall) perform its 

obligations under this agreement (including those in relation to the Services) in 

accordance with:  

(a) all applicable Law regarding health and safety; and 

(b) the Health and Safety Policy whilst at the Authority Premises.  

7.4 Each Party shall notify the other as soon as practicable of any health and safety 

incidents or material health and safety hazards at the Authority Premises of which it 

becomes aware and which relate to or arise in connection with the performance of this 

agreement. The Supplier shall instruct the Supplier Personnel to adopt any necessary 

associated safety measures in order to manage any such material health and safety 

hazards.  

7.5 Without limiting the general obligation set out in clause 6, the Supplier shall (and shall 

procure that the Supplier Personnel shall): 

(a) perform its obligations under this agreement (including those in relation to the 

Services) in accordance with: 

(i) all applicable equality law (whether in relation to race, sex, gender 

reassignment, age, disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief, 

pregnancy, maternity or otherwise);  

(ii) the Authority's equality and diversity policy as provided to the Supplier 

from time to time; 

(iii) any other requirements and instructions which the Authority 

reasonably imposes in connection with any equality obligations 

imposed on the Authority at any time under applicable equality law; 

(b) take all necessary steps, and inform the Authority of the steps taken, to 

prevent unlawful discrimination designated as such by any court or tribunal, 

or the Equality and Human Rights Commission or (any successor 

organisation); and 

(c) at all times comply with the provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 in the 

performance of this agreement. The Supplier shall also undertake, or refrain 

from undertaking, such acts as the Authority requests so as to enable the 

Authority to comply with its obligations under the Human Rights Act 1998. 

8. Authority's Premises and Assets 

8.1 The Authority shall, subject to clause 7 and clause Error! Reference source not 

found., provide the Supplier with access to such parts of the Authority's Premises as 

the Supplier reasonably requires for the purposes only of providing the Services. The 

Page 29



9 

Supplier's right of access will terminate upon termination of this agreement, subject to 

clause 8.3. 

8.2 The Authority shall provide the Supplier with such accommodation and facilities in the 

Authority's Premises as is agreed by the parties from time to time.  

8.3 Subject to the requirements of clause 31, in the event of the expiry or termination of 

the agreement, the Authority shall on reasonable notice provide the Supplier with such 

access as the Supplier reasonably requires to the Authority's Premises to remove any 

of the Supplier's equipment. All such equipment shall be promptly removed by the 

Supplier.  

8.4 The Supplier shall ensure that: 

(a) where using the Authority's Premises and any Authority Assets they are kept 

properly secure and it will comply and cooperate with the Authority's security 

requirements from time to time regarding the security of the same;  

(b) only those of the Supplier Personnel that are duly authorised to enter upon 

the Authority's Premises for the purposes of providing the Services, do so; 

(c) any Authority Assets used by the Supplier are maintained (or restored at the 

end of the Term) in the same or similar condition as at the Service 

Commencement Date (fair wear and tear excepted) and are not removed from 

Authority Premises unless expressly permitted under this agreement or by the 

Authority's Authorised Representative; and 

(d) any Authority Assets are used with all reasonable care and skill and in 

accordance with any manufacturer guidelines or instructions.  

8.5 The Authority shall maintain and repair the Authority Assets, however, where such 

maintenance or repair arises directly from the act, omission, default or negligence of 

the Supplier or its representatives (fair wear and tear excluded) the costs incurred by 

the Authority in maintaining and repairing the same shall be recoverable from the 

Supplier as a debt.  

8.6 The Supplier shall notify the Authority immediately on becoming aware of any damage 

caused by the Supplier, its agents or employees to any property of the Authority, to 

any of the Authority's Premises or to any property of any other recipient of the Services 

in the course of providing the Services.  

8.7 The Supplier shall indemnify the Authority against all and any damage to the Authority 

Premises and the Authority Assets caused by the same. 

Charges and payment 

Page 30



10 

9. Not Used 

10. Payment 

10.1 In consideration of the provision of the Services by the Supplier in accordance with the 

terms and conditions of this agreement, the Authority shall pay the Charges to the 

Supplier in accordance with the Payment Plan.  

10.2 Unless otherwise stated in Schedule 2, the Charges: 

(a) shall remain fixed during the Term; and 

(b) is the entire price payable by the Authority to the Supplier in respect of the 

Services and includes, without limitation, any royalties, licence fees, supplies 

and all consumables used by the Supplier, travel costs, accommodation 

expenses and the cost of Supplier Personnel.  

10.3 The Supplier shall invoice the Authority for payment of the Charges beginning of each 

financial quarter. All invoices shall be directed to the Authority's Authorised 

Representative and shall contain such information as the Authority may inform the 

Supplier from time to time.  

10.4 Where the Supplier submits an invoice to the Authority in accordance with clause 10.3, 

the Authority will consider and verify that invoice in a timely fashion or in any event no 

later than 10 Working Days from receipt of the invoice. 

10.5 The Authority shall pay the Supplier any sums due under such an invoice no later than 

a period of 30 days from the date on which the Authority has determined that the 

invoice is valid and undisputed.  

10.6 Where the Authority fails to comply with clause 10.4 and there is an undue delay in 

considering and verifying the invoice, the invoice shall be regarded as valid and 

undisputed for the purposes of clause 10.5 after a reasonable time has passed.  

10.7 Where any party disputes any sum to be paid by it then a payment equal to the sum 

not in dispute shall be paid and the dispute as to the sum that remains unpaid shall be 

determined in accordance with clause 18. Provided that the sum has been disputed in 

good faith, interest due on any sums in dispute shall not accrue until the earlier of 28 

days after resolution of the dispute between the parties. 

10.8 Subject to clause 10.7, interest shall be payable on the late payment of any undisputed 

Charges properly invoiced under this agreement in accordance with clause 11. The 

Supplier shall not suspend the supply of the Services if any payment is overdue unless 

it is entitled to terminate this agreement under clause 27.3 for failure to pay undisputed 

charges. 

10.9 The Charges are stated exclusive of VAT, which shall be added at the prevailing rate 

as applicable and paid by the Authority following delivery of a valid VAT invoice. The 

Page 31



11 

Supplier shall indemnify the Authority against any liability (including any interest, 

penalties or costs incurred) which is levied, demanded or assessed on the Authority at 

any time in respect of the Supplier's failure to account for, or to pay, any VAT relating 

to payments made to the Supplier under this agreement.  

10.10 The Supplier shall maintain complete and accurate records of, and supporting 

documentation for, all amounts which may be chargeable to the Authority pursuant to 

this agreement. Such records shall be retained for inspection by the Authority for 6 

years from the end of the Contract Year to which the records relate. 

11. Interest 

11.1 Each party shall pay interest on any sum due under this agreement, calculated as 

follows: 

(a) Rate. 4% a year above the Bank of England's base rate from time to time, but 

at 4% a year for any period when that base rate is below 0%. 

(b) Period. From when the overdue sum became due, until it is paid. 

12. Not Used 

Staff 

13. Not Used 

14. Supplier Personnel  

14.1 At all times, the Supplier shall ensure that:  

(a) each of the Supplier Personnel is suitably qualified, adequately trained and 

capable of providing the applicable Services in respect of which they are 

engaged;  

(b) there is an adequate number of Supplier Personnel to provide the Services 

properly; 

(c) only those people who are authorised by the Supplier (under the authorisation 

procedure to be agreed between the parties) are involved in providing the 

Services; and 

(d) all of the Supplier Personnel comply with all of the Authority's policies 

including those that apply to persons who are allowed access to the applicable 

Authority's Premises.  

14.2 The Authority may refuse to grant access to, and remove, any of the Supplier 

Personnel who do not comply with any such policies, or if they otherwise present a 

security threat.  

14.3 The Supplier shall replace any of the Supplier Personnel who the Authority reasonably 

decides have failed to carry out their duties with reasonable skill and care. Following 

Page 32



12 

the removal of any of the Supplier Personnel for any reason, the Supplier shall ensure 

such person is replaced promptly with another person with the necessary training and 

skills to meet the requirements of the Services.   

14.4 The Supplier shall maintain up-to-date personnel records on the Supplier Personnel 

engaged in the provision of the Services and shall provide information to the Authority 

as necessary and appropriate for the provision of the Services. The Supplier shall 

ensure at all times that it has the right to provide these records in compliance with the 

applicable Data Protection Legislation.  

14.5 The Supplier shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure continuity of personnel. 

 

Contract management 

15. Reporting and meetings 

15.1 The Supplier shall provide the Management Reports in the form and at the intervals 

set out in Schedule 3. 

15.2 The Authorised Representatives and relevant Supplier Personnel shall meet in 

accordance with the details set out in Schedule 3 and the Supplier shall, at each 

meeting, present its previously circulated Management Reports  in the format set out 

in that Schedule. 

16. Monitoring 

16.1 The Authority may monitor the performance of the Services by the Supplier. 

16.2 The Supplier shall co-operate with the Authority in carrying out the monitoring referred 

to in clause 17.1 at no additional charge to the Authority. 

17. Change control and continuous improvement 

17.1 Any requirement for a Change shall be subject to the Change Control Procedure. 

17.2 The Supplier shall throughout the Term identify new or potential improvements to the 

Services that it may become aware of. These may include: 

(a) the emergence of new and evolving relevant technologies which could 

improve the Services;  

(b) new or potential improvements to the Services including the quality, 

responsiveness, procedures, benchmarking methods, performance 

mechanisms and customer support services in relation to the Services; 

(c) new or potential improvements to the interfaces or integration of the Services 

with other services provided by third parties or the Authority which might result 

in efficiency or productivity gains or in reduction of operational risk; and 

Page 33



13 

(d) changes in ways of working that would enable the Services to be delivered at 

lower costs and/or bring greater benefits to the Authority. 

17.3 Any potential Changes highlighted as a result of clause 18.3 shall be addressed by the 

parties using the Change Control Procedure. 

18. Dispute resolution 

18.1 If a dispute arises out of or in connection with this agreement or the performance, 

validity or enforceability of it (Dispute) then except as expressly provided in this 

agreement, the parties shall follow the procedure set out in this clause:  

(a) either party shall give to the other written notice of the Dispute, setting out its 

nature and full particulars (Dispute Notice), together with relevant supporting 

documents. On service of the Dispute Notice, the Authorised Representatives 

shall attempt in good faith to resolve the Dispute;   

(b) if the Authorised Representatives are for any reason unable to resolve the 

Dispute within 30 days of service of the Dispute Notice, the Dispute shall be 

referred to the Authority's Head of Law and Governance (or equivalent) and 

the Supplier's Head of Contracting and Procurement (or equivalent) who shall 

attempt in good faith to resolve it;   

(c) if the Authority's Head of Law and Governance (or equivalent) and the 

Supplier's Head of Contracting and Procurement are for any reason unable to 

resolve the Dispute within 30 days of it being referred to them, the parties will 

escalate the dispute to the Chief Executive of each Party who shall attempt in 

good faith to resolve it; and  

(d) if the chief Executives of each Party are for any reason unable to resolve the 

Dispute within 30 days of it being referred to them, the parties will attempt to 

settle it by mediation in accordance with the CEDR Model Mediation 

Procedure. Unless otherwise agreed between the parties, the mediator shall 

be nominated by CEDR. To initiate the mediation, a party must serve notice 

in writing (ADR notice) to the other party to the Dispute, requesting a 

mediation. A copy of the ADR notice should be sent to CEDR. The mediation 

will start not later than 30 days after the date of the ADR notice. 

18.2 The commencement of mediation shall not prevent the parties commencing or 

continuing court proceedings in relation to the Dispute under clause 42 which clause 

shall apply at all times. 

19. Sub-Contracting and assignment 

19.1 Subject to clause 20.2, neither party shall assign, novate, subcontract or otherwise 

dispose of any or all of its rights and obligations under this agreement without the prior 

written consent of the other party, neither may the Supplier sub-contract the whole or 

any part of its obligations under this agreement. 

Page 34



14 

19.2 The Authority shall be entitled to novate (and the Supplier shall be deemed to consent 

to any such novation) the agreement to any other body which substantially performs 

any of the functions that previously had been performed by the Authority. 

19.3 Provided that the Authority has given prior written consent, the Supplier shall be 

entitled to novate the agreement where there has been a succession into the position 

of the Supplier, following a local government reorganisation. 

Liability 

20. Indemnities 

20.1 Subject to clause 21.4, the Supplier shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Authority 

against all liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and losses incurred by the Authority 

arising out of: 

(a) the Supplier's breach or negligent performance or non-performance of this 

agreement; or 

(b) any claim made against the Authority arising out of the provision of the 

Services, to the extent that such claim arises out of the breach, negligent 

performance or non- performance of this agreement by the Supplier or 

Supplier Personnel. 

20.2 The indemnity under clause 21.1 shall apply except insofar as the liabilities, costs, 

expenses, damages and losses incurred by the Authority are directly caused (or 

directly arise) from the negligence or breach of this agreement by the Authority or its 

Representatives. 

21. Limitation of liability 

21.1 Neither party shall be liable to the other party, whether in contract, tort (including 

negligence), breach of statutory duty, or otherwise, for any indirect or consequential 

loss arising under or in connection with this agreement. 

21.2 Each party shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any 

loss or damage arising out of or in connection with this agreement, including any losses 

for which the relevant party is entitled to bring a claim against the other party pursuant 

to the indemnities in this agreement. 

21.3 Subject to clause 22.1 and clause 22.6, the Supplier's aggregate liability: 

(a) is unlimited in respect of: 

(i) any breach of clause 30; and 

(b) in respect of all other claims, indemnities, losses or damages, whether arising 

from tort (including negligence), breach of statutory duty, or otherwise, arising 

under or in connection with this agreement, shall be limited in each Contract 

Year to £50,000.00 (fifty thousand pounds) 

Page 35



15 

21.4 Subject to clause 22.1 and clause 22.6, the Authority's aggregate liability to the 

Supplier for all claims, losses or damages, whether arising from tort (including 

negligence), breach of statutory duty, or otherwise, arising under or in connection with 

this agreement (other than a failure to pay any of the Charges that are properly due 

and payable and for which the Authority shall remain fully liable), shall be limited in any 

Contract Year to £50,000.00 (fifty thousand pounds) 

21.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of this agreement neither party limits or excludes 

its liability for: 

(a) fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation; 

(b) death or personal injury caused by its negligence (or the negligence of its 

personnel, agents or subcontractors);  

(c) breach of any obligation as to title implied by statute; or 

(d) any other liability for which may not be limited under any applicable law. 

22. Insurance 

22.1 The Supplier shall at its own cost effect and maintain with a reputable insurance 

company a policy or policies of insurance providing as a minimum the following levels 

of cover: 

(a) public liability insurance with a limit of indemnity of not less than ££5,000,000 

in relation to any one claim or series of claims;  

(b) employer's liability insurance in accordance with any legal requirement for the 

time being in force in relation to any one claim or series of claims; 

(c) professional indemnity insurance with a limit of indemnity of not less than 

£500,000 (five hundred thousand pounds) in the aggregate; 

 (the Required Insurances). The cover shall be in respect of all risks which may be 

incurred by the Supplier, arising out of the Supplier's performance of the agreement, 

including death or personal injury, loss of or damage to property or any other loss. 

Such policies shall include cover in respect of any financial loss arising from any advice 

given or omitted to be given by the Supplier. 

22.2 The Supplier shall give the Authority, on request, copies of all insurance policies 

referred to in this clause or a broker's verification of insurance to demonstrate that the 

Required Insurances are in place, together with receipts or other evidence of payment 

of the latest premiums due under those policies. 

22.3 If, for whatever reason, the Supplier fails to give effect to and maintain the Required 

Insurances, the Authority may make alternative arrangements to protect its interests 

and may recover the costs of such arrangements from the Supplier.  

22.4 The terms of any insurance or the amount of cover shall not relieve the Supplier of any 

liabilities under the agreement.  

Page 36



16 

22.5 The Supplier shall hold and maintain the Required Insurances for a minimum of six 

years following the expiration or earlier termination of the agreement. 

Information 

23. Freedom of information 

23.1 The Parties acknowledge that each is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the 

EIRs and shall assist and co-operate with each other to enable a Party to comply with 

their information disclosure requirements. 

23.2 Where a Party receives a request for information in relation which it is holding on behalf 

of the other Party, it shall:  

(a) transfer to the other Party all Requests for Information relating to this 

agreement that it receives as soon as practicable and in any event within 2 

Working Days of receipt;  

(b) provide the other Party with a copy of all Information in its possession or power 

in the form that the other Party requires within such reasonable timescales 

given by the other Party or where no timescale is given within 5 Working Days;  

(c) provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Party 

to enable the other Party to respond to a request for information within the 

time for compliance set out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5 of the 

EIR; and 

(d) not respond directly to a Request For Information unless authorised in writing 

to do so by the Authority.  

23.3 Each Party shall be responsible for determining at its absolute discretion whether the 

information: 

(a) Is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA or 

the EIR; 

(b) Is to be disclosed in response to a request for information.  

23.4 Notwithstanding any other term of this agreement, each Party consents to the 

publication of this agreement in its entirety (including variations), subject only to the 

redaction of information that is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the 

provisions of the FOIA and EIRs.  

23.5 A Party shall, prior to publication, consult with the other Party on the manner and format 

of publication and to inform its decision regarding any redactions but shall have the 

final decisions in its absolute discretion.  

24. Data processing 

24.1 Both parties will comply with all applicable requirements of the Data Protection 

Legislation. This clause 24 is in addition to, and does not relieve, remove or replace, a 

Page 37



17 

party's obligations or rights under the Data Protection Legislation. In this clause 24, 

Applicable Laws means (for so long as and to the extent that they apply to the 

Supplier) the law of the European Union, the law of any member state of the European 

Union and/or Domestic UK law; and Domestic UK Law means the UK Data Protection 

Legislation and any other law that applies in the UK. 

24.2 The parties acknowledge that for the purposes of the Data Protection Legislation, the 

Authority is the Controller and the Supplier is the Processor. Schedule 5 sets out the 

scope, nature and purpose of processing by the Supplier, the duration of the 

processing and the types of Personal Data and categories of Data Subject. 

25. Confidentiality 

25.1 Subject to clause 25.2, each party shall keep the other party's Confidential Information 

confidential and shall not: 

(a) use such Confidential Information except for the purpose of performing its 

rights and obligations under or in connection with this agreement; or 

(b) disclose such Confidential Information in whole or in part to any third party, 

except as expressly permitted by this clause 25.  

25.2 The obligation to maintain confidentiality of Confidential Information does not apply to 

any Confidential information:  

(a) which the other party confirms in writing is not required to be treated as 

Confidential Information; 

(b) which is obtained from a third party who is lawfully authorised to disclose such 

information without any obligation of confidentiality;  

(c) which a party is required to disclose by judicial, administrative, governmental 

or regulatory process in connection with any action, suit, proceedings or claim 

or otherwise by applicable Law, including the FOIA or the EIRs;  

(d) which is in or enters the public domain other than through any disclosure 

prohibited by this agreement;  

(e) which a party can demonstrate was lawfully in its possession prior to receipt 

from the other party; or 

(f) which is disclosed by the Authority on a confidential basis to any central 

government or regulatory body. 

25.3 A party may disclose the other party's Confidential information to those of its 

Representatives who need to know such Confidential Information for the purposes of 

performing or advising on the party's obligations under this agreement, provided that: 

(a) it informs such Representatives of the confidential nature of the Confidential 

Information before disclosure; and 

Page 38



18 

(b) it procures that its Representatives shall, in relation to any Confidential 

Information disclosed to them, comply with the obligations set out in this 

clause as if they were a party to this agreement, 

(c) and at all times, it is liable for the failure of any Representatives to comply with 

the obligations set out in this clause 25.3. 

25.4 If so requested by the disclosing party at any time by notice in writing to the other party, 

the receiving party shall: 

(a) destroy or return to the disclosing party all documents and materials and any 

copies containing, reflecting, incorporating or based on the disclosing party’s 

Confidential Information; and 

(b) erase all of the disclosing party’s Confidential Information from its computer 

and communications systems and devices used by it, or which is stored in 

electronic form.   

25.5 The provisions of this clause 25 shall survive for a period of 5 years from the 

Termination Date.  

26. Audit 

26.1 During the Term and for a period of 6 years after the Termination Date, the Authority 

(acting by itself or through its Representatives) may conduct an audit of the Supplier, 

including for the following purposes: 

(a) to verify the accuracy of Charges (and proposed or actual variations to them 

in accordance with this agreement) and/or the costs of all suppliers of the 

Services at the level of detail agreed in Schedule 22 (Payment); 

(b) to review the integrity, confidentiality and security of any data relating to the 

Authority or any service users; 

(c) to review the Supplier's compliance with the Data Protection Legislation, the 

FOIA, in accordance with clause 24 (Data Protection) and clause 23 (Freedom 

of Information) and any other legislation applicable to the Services; 

(d) to review any records created during the provision of the Services; 

(e) to review any books of account kept by the Supplier in connection with the 

provision of the Services;  

(f)  to carry out the audit and certification of the Authority's accounts;  

(g)  to carry out an examination pursuant to section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 

1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority 

has used its resources; 

(h) to verify the accuracy and completeness of the Management Reports 

delivered or required by this agreement.  

Page 39



19 

26.2 Except where an audit is imposed on the Authority by a regulatory body or where the 

Authority has reasonable grounds for believing that the Supplier has not complied with 

its obligations under this agreement, the Authority may not conduct an audit under this 

clause 26 more than twice in any calendar year.  

26.3 The Authority shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of each 

audit does not unreasonably disrupt the Supplier or delay the provision of the Services. 

26.4 Subject to the Authority's obligations of confidentiality, the Supplier shall on demand 

provide the Authority and any relevant regulatory body (and/or their agents or 

representatives) with all reasonable co-operation and assistance in relation to each 

audit, including: 

(a) all information requested by the above persons within the permitted scope of 

the audit; 

(b) reasonable access to any sites and to any equipment used (whether 

exclusively or non-exclusively) in the performance of the Services; and 

(c) access to the Supplier Personnel.  

26.5 The Authority shall endeavour to (but is not obliged to) provide at least 15 Working 

Days' notice of its intention or, where possible, a regulatory body's intention, to conduct 

an audit. 

26.6 The parties agree that they shall bear their own respective costs and expenses 

incurred in respect of compliance with their obligations under this clause, unless the 

audit identifies a material failure to perform its obligations under this agreement in any 

material manner by the Supplier in which case the Supplier shall reimburse the 

Authority for all the Authority's reasonable costs incurred in the course of the audit.  

26.7  If an audit identifies that:  

(a) the Supplier has failed to perform its obligations under this agreement in any 

material manner, the parties shall agree and implement a remedial plan. If the 

Supplier's failure relates to a failure to provide any information to the Authority 

about the Charges, proposed Charges or the Supplier's costs, then the 

remedial plan shall include a requirement for the provision of all such 

information;  

(b) the Authority has overpaid any Charges, the Supplier shall pay to the Authority 

the amount overpaid within 20 days. The Authority may deduct the relevant 

amount from the Charges if the Supplier fails to make this payment; and  

(c) the Authority has underpaid any Charges, the Authority shall pay to the 

Supplier the amount of the under-payment less the cost of audit incurred by 

the Authority if this was due to a default by the Supplier in relation to invoicing 

within 20 days. 

Termination 

Page 40



20 

27. Termination for breach 

27.1 The Authority may terminate this agreement with immediate effect by the service of 

written notice on the Supplier in the following circumstances:  

(a) if the Supplier is in breach of any material obligation under this agreement 

provided that if the breach is capable of remedy, the Authority may only 

terminate this agreement under this clause 27.1 if the Supplier has failed to 

remedy such breach within such period stipulated within a notice from the 

Authority (a Remediation Notice) to do so and where such Remediation 

Notice clearly sets out the breach and how it is to be remedied; or 

(b) if a Catastrophic Failure has occurred; 

27.2 The Authority may terminate this agreement in accordance with the provisions of 

clause 29 and clause 30 

27.3 The Supplier may terminate this agreement in the event that the Authority commits a 

Termination Payment Default by giving 30 days' written notice to the Authority. In the 

event that the Authority remedies the Termination Payment Default in the 30 day notice 

period, the Supplier's notice to terminate this agreement shall be deemed to have been 

withdrawn. 

28. Termination on notice 

Without affecting any other right or remedy available to it, either party may terminate 

this agreement at any time by giving 12 months' written notice to the other party. 

29. Force majeure 

29.1 Provided it has complied with the remaining provisions of this Clause 29, if a party is 

prevented, hindered or delayed in or from performing any of its obligations under this 

agreement by a Force Majeure Event (Affected Party), the Affected Party shall not be 

in breach of this agreement or otherwise liable for any such failure or delay in the 

performance of such obligations.  

29.2 The corresponding obligations of the other party will be suspended to the same extent 

as those of the Affected Party.  

29.3 The Affected Party shall: 

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable after the start of the Force Majeure Event 

but not later than 7 days from its start, notify the other party in writing of the 

Force Majeure Event, the date on which it started, its likely potential duration, 

and the effect of the Force Majeure Event on its ability to perform any of its 

obligations under the agreement; and 

(b) use all reasonable endeavours to mitigate the effect of the Force Majeure 

Event. 

Page 41



21 

29.4 An Affected Party cannot claim relief if the Force Majeure Event is attributable to the 

Affected Party's wilful act, neglect or failure to take reasonable precautions against the 

relevant Force Majeure Event. The Supplier cannot claim relief if the Force Majeure 

Event is one which, in accordance with Best Industry Practice, the Supplier should 

have foreseen and provided for the cause in question.  

29.5 The Affected Party shall notify the other party in writing as soon as practicable after 

the Force Majeure Event ceases or no longer causes the affected party to be unable 

to comply with its obligations under this agreement. Following such notification, this 

agreement shall continue to be performed on the terms existing immediately before 

the occurrence of the Force Majeure Event unless agreed otherwise by the parties.  

29.6 If the Force Majeure Event prevents, hinders or delays the Affected Party's 

performance of its obligations for a continuous period of more than 8 weeks, the party 

not affected by the Force Majeure Event may terminate this agreement by giving 4 

weeks' notice to the Affected Party.  

30. Prevention of bribery 

30.1 The Supplier represents and warrants that neither it, nor any Supplier Personnel:  

(a) has committed a Prohibited Act; 

(b) to the best of its knowledge has been or is subject to an investigation, inquiry 

or enforcement proceedings by a governmental, administrative or regulatory 

body regarding any Prohibited Act or alleged Prohibited Act; or 

(c) has been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, 

suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for 

participation in government procurement programmes or contracts on the 

grounds of a Prohibited Act. 

30.2 The Supplier shall promptly notify the Authority if, at any time during the Term, its 

circumstances, knowledge or awareness changes such that it would not be able to 

repeat the warranties set out in clause 30.1 at the relevant time.  

30.3 The Suppler shall (and shall procure that its Supplier Personnel shall): 

(a) not commit a Prohibited Act; and/or  

(b) not do or omit to do anything that would cause the Authority or any of the 

Authority's employees, consultants, contractors, sub-contractors or agents to 

contravene any of the Relevant Requirements or otherwise incur any liability 

in relation to the Relevant Requirements.  

(c) have and maintain in place its own policies and procedures to ensure 

compliance with the Relevant Requirements and prevent occurrence of a 

Prohibited Act; 

Page 42



22 

(d) promptly report to the Authority any request or demand for any undue financial 

or other advantage of any kind received by the Supplier in connection with 

performance of this agreement. 

30.4 The Supplier shall maintain appropriate and up to date records showing all payments 

made by the Supplier in connection with this agreement and the steps taken to comply 

with its obligations under clause 30.3.  

30.5 The Supplier shall allow the Authority and its third party representatives to audit any of 

the Supplier's records and any other relevant documentation in accordance with clause 

26. 

(a) require the Supplier to remove from performance of this agreement any 

Supplier Personnel whose acts or omissions have caused the Default; or  

(b) immediately terminate this agreement.  

30.6 Any notice served by the Authority under clause 30.6 shall specify the nature of the 

Prohibited Act, the identity of the Party who the Authority believes has committed the 

Prohibited Act and the action that the Authority has elected to take (including, where 

relevant, the date on which this agreement shall terminate).  

31. Consequences of termination or expiry 

31.1 On the expiry of the Term or if this agreement is terminated for any reason, the Supplier 

shall co-operate fully with the Authority to ensure an orderly migration of the Services 

to the Authority or, at the Authority's request, a Replacement Supplier.  

31.2 On termination or expiry of this agreement the Supplier shall procure that all data and 

other material belonging to the Authority (and all media of any nature containing 

information and data belonging to the Authority or relating to the Services), shall be 

delivered to the Authority forthwith and the Supplier’s Personnel shall certify full 

compliance with this clause. 

31.3 Any provision of this agreement that expressly or by implication is intended to come 

into or continue force on or after termination or expiry, including clause 20 

(Indemnities), clause 21 (Limitation of Liability), clause 22 (Insurance), clause 23 

(Freedom of Information), clause 24 (Data Protection), clause 25 (Confidentiality), 

clause 26 (Audit), clause 27 (Termination for Breach) and this clause 31 

(Consequences of termination), shall remain in full force and effect.  

31.4 Termination or expiry of this agreement shall not affect any rights, remedies, 

obligations or liabilities of the parties that have accrued up to the date of termination 

or expiry, including the right to claim damages in respect of any breach of the 

agreement which existed at or before the Termination Date.  

General provisions 

Page 43



23 

32. Non-solicitation 

In order to protect each other's legitimate business interest, neither party shall (except 

with the prior written consent of the other) during the term of this agreement[, and for 

a period of one year thereafter, solicit or attempt to solicit or entice away any senior 

staff of the other party who have been engaged or employed in the provision of the 

Services or the management of this agreement or any significant part thereof either as 

principal, agent, employee, independent contractor or in any other form of employment 

or engagement other than by means of an open national advertising campaign and not 

specifically targeted at such staff of the other party. 

33. Waiver 

No failure or delay by a party to exercise any right or remedy provided under this 

agreement or by law shall constitute a waiver of that or any other right or remedy, nor 

shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No 

single or partial exercise of such right or remedy shall prevent or restrict the further 

exercise of that or any other right or remedy.   

34. Rights and remedies 

The rights and remedies provided under this agreement are in addition to, and not 

exclusive of, any rights or remedies provided by law.   

35. Severability 

35.1 If any provision or part-provision of this agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or 

unenforceable, it shall be deemed deleted, but that shall not affect the validity and 

enforceability of the rest of this agreement.   

35.2 If any provision or part-provision of this agreement is deemed deleted under clause 

37.1, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to agree a replacement provision that, to 

the greatest extent possible, achieves the intended commercial result of the original 

provision.  

36. Partnership or agency 

36.1 Nothing in this agreement is intended to, or shall be deemed to, establish any 

partnership or joint venture between any of the parties, constitute any party the agent 

of another party, or authorise any party to make or enter into any commitments for or 

on behalf of any other party.   

36.2 Each party confirms it is acting on its own behalf and not for the benefit of any other 

person.  

Page 44



24 

37. Third party rights 

37.1 This agreement does not give rise to any rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third 

Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this agreement.   

38. Publicity 

The Supplier shall not:  

(a) make any press announcements or publicise this agreement or its contents in 

any way; or  

(b) use the Authority's name or logo in any promotion or marketing or 

announcement of orders, 

except as required by law, any government or regulatory authority, any court or other 

authority of competent jurisdiction, without the prior written consent of the Authority, 

which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

39. Notices 

39.1 Any notice given to a party under or in connection with this contract shall be in writing 

marked for the attention of the party's Authorised Representative and shall be:  

(a) delivered by hand or by pre-paid first-class post or other next working day 

delivery service at its registered office (if a company) or its principal place of 

business (in any other case). 

39.2 Any notice shall be deemed to have been received:  

(a) if delivered by hand, on signature of a delivery receipt or at the time the notice 

is left at the proper address; or 

(b) if sent by pre-paid first-class post or other next working day delivery service, 

at 9.00 am on the second Working Day after posting. 

39.3 This clause does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other documents in 

any legal action or, where applicable, any arbitration or other method of dispute 

resolution. 

40. Entire agreement 

40.1 This agreement and the documents referred to in it constitutes the entire agreement 

between the parties and supersedes and extinguishes all previous agreements, 

promises, assurances, warranties, representations and understandings between 

them, whether written or oral, relating to its subject matter.  

40.2 Each party agrees that it shall have no remedies in respect of any statement, 

representation, assurance or warranty (whether made innocently or negligently) that is 

not set out in this agreement. Each party agrees that it shall have no claim for innocent 

Page 45



25 

or negligent misrepresentation or negligent misstatement based on any statement in 

this agreement.  

41. Counterparts 

This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when 

executed and delivered shall constitute an original of this agreement, but all the 

counterparts shall together constitute the same agreement.  

42. Governing law 

This agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its 

subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be 

governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England and Wales.  

43. Jurisdiction 

Each party irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales shall have 

exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with 

this agreement or its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or 

claims). 

This agreement has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of it. 

 

 

SIGNED on behalf of ) 

XXXXXXXX COUNCIL ) 

 

 

 

Authorised Signatory 

  

 

SIGNED on behalf of  ) 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL ) 

 

Authorised Signatory 

  

Page 46



26 

Schedule 1 Specification 

The Supplier shall provide the following to the Authority as the service to be delivered under 
this agreement (“the Services”) 

Strategy 

• Look for opportunities for income generation via concession contracts 

• Supporting councils to improve the lives of citizens through utilising social 
value measures where relevant within tenders 

• Access to the increased buying power of a unitary authority for a range of 
goods, services and works to help reduce cost.   

• Align and support department sourcing strategies with the Council’s 
procurement strategy  

• Ensure Council’s strategy is referenced and supported in all procurement 
activity  

 

Management Information 

• Monthly procurement reports to identify 
o Savings 
o Spend commitments 
o Procurement activity 
o Social value outcomes 

• Transparency reporting  

 

Operational  

• Administering tender from start to award of contract including, but not limited 
to; 
o Support to ensure specifications are appropriate for the requirement  
o Completing tender documentation in line with legislation,  
o Identifying the best way to procure the services 
o Supporting the development of tender evaluation,  
o Criteria for award – price/quality most economically advantageous tender, 
o Co-ordinating responses to questions from suppliers,  
o Co-ordinating tender evaluation,  
o Developing and sending award letters and all other letters related to the 

tender  

• Compliance with regulations – PCR2015, Contract Procedure Rules and 
project specific when required  

• Procurement option appraisals as and when required 

• Quarterly review meetings as a minimum with accounts manager  

• Soft market testing as and when required 

• Quarterly meetings with legal services 

• Supplier engagement – market intelligence 

• Transparency obligations are met – publishing opportunities and awards  

 

 

Page 47



27 

 

 

Resources  

• Access to a team of procurement specialists ensuring tenders are managed 
by individuals with relevant experience 

• Procurement training 

• Review of existing procurement information and processes   

• Weekly drop-in sessions  

• Due North support   

• Forward plan support – PIMS 

 

Page 48



28 

Schedule 2 Charges and payment 

1. Calculation of the Charges 

The Charges shall be calculated on the basis of the rates and prices set out in this 

Schedule.  

2. Charges based on a [fixed price and/or shared saving] basis 

The cost of the service is a flat rate fee of £xxxxxxx per annum exclusive of V.A.T. 

[Savings will be shared as follows:] 

3. Payment Plan 

The Supplier shall submit invoices to the Authority for payment at the following 

intervals: 

xxxxxxxxx 

4. Termination Payment Default 

In the event that at any time undisputed Charges amounting to 25% of the Charges 

have been overdue for payment for a period of 60 days or more, the Authority will have 

committed a Termination Payment Default. 

  

Page 49



29 

Schedule 3 Contract management 

1. Authorised representatives 

1.1 The Authority's initial Authorised Representative:– xxxxxxxxxx  

1.2 The Supplier's initial Authorised Representative: Steve Oakley, Head of Procurement 

and Contracts 

2. Meetings 

2.1 Type 

2.2 Quorum 

2.3 Frequency 

2.4 Agenda 

3. Reports 

3.1 Type 

3.2 Contents 

3.3 Frequency 

3.4 Circulation list 

 

  

Page 50



30 

Schedule 4 Change control 

1. General principles 

1.1 Where the Authority or the Supplier sees a need to change this agreement, the 

Authority may at any time request, and the Supplier may at any time recommend, such 

Change only in accordance with the Change Control Procedure set out in paragraph 2 

of this Schedule 4. 

1.2 Until such time as a Change is made in accordance with the Change Control 

Procedure, the Authority and the Supplier shall, unless otherwise agreed in writing, 

continue to perform this agreement in compliance with its terms before such Change. 

1.3 Any discussions which may take place between the Authority and the Supplier in 

connection with a request or recommendation before the authorisation of a resultant 

Change shall be without prejudice to the rights of either party.  

1.4 Any work undertaken by the Supplier and the Supplier Personnel which has not been 

authorised in advance by a Change, and which has not been otherwise agreed in 

accordance with the provisions of this Schedule 4, shall be undertaken entirely at the 

expense and liability of the Supplier unless otherwise agreed by the Authority. 

2. Procedure 

2.1 Discussion between the Authority and the Supplier concerning a Change shall result 

in any one of the following: 

(a) no further action being taken; or 

(b) a request to change this agreement by the Authority; or 

(c) a recommendation to change this agreement by the Supplier.  

2.2 Where a written request for a Change is received from the Authority, the Supplier shall, 

unless otherwise agreed, submit two copies of a Change Control Note signed by the 

Supplier to the Authority within three weeks of the date of the request. 

2.3 A recommendation to amend this agreement by the Supplier shall be submitted directly 

to the Authority in the form of two copies of a Change Control Note signed by the 

Supplier at the time of such recommendation. The Authority shall give its response to 

the Change Control Note within three weeks. 

2.4 Each Change Control Note shall contain:  

(a) the title of the Change; 

(b) the originator and date of the request or recommendation for the Change;  

(c) the reason for the Change;  

(d) full details of the Change, including any specifications;  

Page 51



31 

(e) the price, if any, of the Change; 

(f) a timetable for implementation, together with any proposals for acceptance of 

the Change;  

(g) a schedule of payments if appropriate; 

(h) details of the likely impact, if any, of the Change on other aspects of this 

agreement including: 

(i) the timetable for the provision of the Change;  

(ii) the personnel to be provided;  

(iii) the Charges;   

(iv) the Documentation to be provided;  

(v) the training to be provided;  

(vi) working arrangements;  

(vii) other contractual issues; 

(i) the date of expiry of validity of the Change Control Note; and 

(j) provision for signature by the Authority and the Supplier;  

2.5 For each Change Control Note submitted by the Supplier the Authority shall, within the 

period of the validity of the Change Control Note: 

(a) allocate a sequential number to the Change Control Note; and 

(b) evaluate the Change Control Note and, as appropriate: 

(i) request further information; 

(ii) accept the Change Control Note by arranging for two copies of the 

Change Control Note to be signed by or on behalf of the Authority and 

return one of the copies to the Supplier; or 

(iii) notify the Supplier of the rejection of the Change Control Note.  

2.6 A Change Control Note signed by the Authority and by the Supplier shall constitute an 

amendment to this agreement. 

  

Page 52



32 

Schedule 5 Data Processing Agreement (Controller to 
Processor) 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 This Schedule 5 is to ensure the protection and security of Data passed from the 
Authority to the Supplier for Processing or Data accessed by the Supplier on the 
authority of the Authority for Processing or otherwise received by the Supplier for 
Processing on the Authority’s behalf; 

1.2 The GDPR place certain obligations upon a Controller to ensure that any Processor it 
engages provides sufficient guarantees to ensure that the Processing of the Data 
carried out on its behalf is secure and protects the rights of the Data Subject; 

1.3 This Schedule 5 exists to ensure that there are sufficient security guarantees in place 
and that the Processing carried out by the Processor on the Controller’s behalf 
complies with obligations under Article 28 of the GDPR; 

1.4 This Schedule 5 further defines certain service levels to be applied to all Data related 
services provided by the Processor. 

2. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

2.1 In this Schedule 5: 

"Data" means any information of whatever nature that, by whatever means, is provided 
to the Supplier by the Authority, is accessed by the Supplier on the authority of the 
Authority or is otherwise received by the Supplier on the Authority's behalf, for the 
purposes of the Processing specified in paragraph 5.4 and shall include, without 
limitation, any Personal Data;  

“Data Breach” means any event, actual or suspected, which has or may be likely to a 
detrimental effect on the security, integrity or quality of the Data; 

“Data Protection Legislation” means: (i) the GDPR, the LED and any applicable 
national implementing Laws as amended from time to time (ii) the DPA 2018 to the 
extent that it relates to processing of personal data and privacy; (iii) all applicable Law 
about the processing of personal data and privacy; 

“Data Protection Impact Assessment” means an assessment by the Authority of the 
impact of the envisaged Processing on the protection of Personal Data; 

“Data Subject Access Request” means a request made by, or on behalf of, a Data 
Subject in accordance with rights granted pursuant to the Data Protection Legislation 
to access their Personal Data; 

“Services” shall have the meaning as defined in Clause 1.1 of this agreement. 

“DPA 2018” means the Data Protection Act 2018; 

“Controller”, “Processor”, "Data Subject", "Personal Data", “Personal Data Breach”, 
“Data Protection Officer”, "Processing" and “Special Category Personal Data",  shall 
have the same meanings as are assigned to those terms in the GDPR;  

“GDPR” means the General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679); 

“Good Industry Practice” shall have the meaning as defined in Clause 1.1. of this 
agreement; 

“Law” means any law, subordinate legislation within the meaning of Section 21(1) of 
the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, enforceable right within the meaning of Section 2 
of the European Communities Act 1972, regulation, order, regulatory policy, mandatory 

Page 53



33 

guidance or code of practice, judgment of a relevant court of law, or directives or 
requirements with which EBC is bound to comply; 

“LED” means the Law Enforcement Directive (Directive (EU) 2016/680); 

“Protective Measures” means appropriate technical and organisational measures to 
protect against unauthorised or unlawful processing of Personal Data and against 
accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, Personal Data which may include: 
pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data, ensuring confidentiality, integrity, 
availability and resilience of systems and services, ensuring that availability of and 
access to Personal Data can be restored in a timely manner after an incident, and 
regularly assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the such measures adopted by 
it; 

“Supplier’s Personnel” shall have the meaning as defined in Clause 1.1 of this 
agreement; 

"Services" means Processing of the Data by the Supplier in connection with and for 
the purposes set out in Schedule 1; and 

“Sub-processor” means any third party appointed to process Personal Data on behalf 
of the Contractor related to this agreement. 

2.2 In this Schedule 5 any reference, express or implied, to an enactment (which includes 
any legislation in any jurisdiction) includes references to: 

2.2.1 that enactment as re-enacted, amended, extended or applied by or under any 
other enactment (before, on or after the date of this Agreement); 

2.2.2 any enactment which that enactment re-enacts (with or without modification); 
and 

2.2.3 any subordinate legislation made (before, on or after the date of this 
Agreement) under that enactment, as re-enacted, amended, extended or 
applied as described in paragraph 2.2.1, or under any enactment referred to in 
paragraph 2.2.2. 

2.3 In this Schedule 5: 

2.3.1 references to a person include an individual, a body corporate and an 
unincorporated association of persons; 

2.3.2 references to a Party to this Agreement include references to the successors 
or assignees (immediate or otherwise) of that Party. 

2.4 Paragraphs 2.1 to 2.3 apply unless the contrary intention appears. 

3. APPLICATION OF THIS SCHEDULE 5  

3.1 This Schedule 5 shall apply to: 

3.1.1 all Data sent by the Authority to the Supplier for Processing from the Service 
Commencement Date; 

3.1.2 all Data accessed by the Supplier on behalf of the Authority for Processing from 
the Service Commencement Date. 

4. DATA PROCESSING  

 

4.1 In consideration of the undertakings provided by the Authority in paragraph 5, the 
Supplier agrees to Process the Data to which this agreement applies in accordance 
with the terms and conditions set out in this agreement, and its schedules and annexes, 
and in particular, the Supplier agrees that it shall: 

Page 54



34 

4.1.1 process that Personal Data only in accordance with Appendix 1 and the written 
instructions of the Authority, unless the Supplier is required to do otherwise by 
Law. If it is so required, the Supplier shall promptly notify the Authority before 
processing the Personal Data unless prohibited by Law;  

4.1.2  ensure that it has in place Protective Measures, which have been reviewed and 
approved by the Authority, as appropriate to protect against a Data Loss Event 
having taken account of the:  

(i) nature of the Data to be protected;  

(ii) harm that might result from a Data Loss Event;  

(iii) state of technological development; and  

(iv) cost of implementing any measures;  

4.1.3 ensure that:  

(i) the Supplier’s Personnel do not process Personal Data except in accordance 
with this agreement (and in particular Appendix 1);  

(ii) it takes all reasonable steps to ensure the reliability and integrity of any 
Supplier’s Personnel who have access to the Personal Data and ensure 
that they:  

(a) are aware of and comply with the Supplier’s duties under this 
paragraph;  

(b) are subject to appropriate confidentiality undertakings with the Supplier 
or any Sub-processor;  

(c) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and do not 
publish, disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third party 
unless directed in writing to do so by the Supplier or as otherwise 
permitted by this agreement; and  

(d) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, protection and 
handling of Personal Data; and  

4.1.4 not transfer Personal Data outside of the UK unless the prior written consent of 
the Authority has been obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled:  

(i)  the Authority or the Supplier has provided appropriate safeguards in 
relation to the transfer as determined by the Authority;  

(ii)  the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies;  

(iii) the Supplier complies with its obligations under the Data Protection 
Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal 
Data that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours 
to assist the Authority in meeting its obligations); and  

(iv) the Supplier complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in 
advance by the Authority with respect to the processing of the Personal 
Data;  

4.1.5  at the written direction of the Authority, delete or return Personal Data (and any 
copies of it) to the Authority on termination of this agreement unless the 
Supplier is required by Law to retain the Personal Data.  

4.2 Subject to clause 4.1, the Supplier shall notify the Authority immediately if it:  

4.2.1 receives a Data Subject Access Request (or purported Data Subject Access 
Request);  

Page 55



35 

4.2.2   receives a request to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data;  

4.2.3  receives any other request, complaint or communication relating to either 
Party's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation;  

4.2.4 receives any communication from the Information Commissioner or any other 
regulatory authority in connection with Personal Data Processed under this 
agreement;  

4.2.5 receives a request from any third party for disclosure of Personal Data where 
compliance with such request is required or purported to be required by Law; 
or  

4.2.6 becomes aware of a Data Loss Event.  

4.3 Taking into account the nature of the Processing, the Supplier shall provide the 
Authority with full assistance in relation to either Party's obligations under Data 
Protection Legislation and any complaint, communication or request made under 
paragraph 4.2 (and insofar as possible within the timescales reasonably required by 
the Authority) including by promptly providing:  

4.3.1 the Authority with full details and copies of the complaint, communication or 
request;  

4.3.2 such assistance as is reasonably requested by the Authority to enable the 
Authority to comply with a Data Subject Access Request within the relevant 
timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation;  

4.3.3 the Authority, at its request, with any Personal Data it holds in relation to a Data 
Subject;  

4.3.4 assistance as requested by the Authority following any Data Loss Event; and 

4.3.5 assistance as requested by the Authority with respect to any request from the 
Information Commissioner’s Office or any other regulatory authority, or any 
consultation by the Authority with the Information Commissioner's Office or such 
other authority. 

4.4 The Supplier shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Authority in the preparation 
of any Data Protection Impact Assessment prior to commencing any Processing. Such 
assistance may, at the discretion of the Authority, include:  

4.4.1 a systematic description of the envisaged processing operations and the purpose 
of the processing;  

4.4.2 an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the processing operations 
in relation to the Services;  

4.4.3 an assessment of the risks to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects; and  

4.4.4 the measures envisaged to address the risks, including safeguards, security 
measures and mechanisms to ensure the protection of Personal Data. 

4.5 The Supplier shall maintain complete and accurate records and information to 
demonstrate its compliance with this paragraph 4. 

4.6 The Supplier shall allow for audits of its Data Processing activity by the Authority or the 
Authority’s designated auditor. 

4.7 The Supplier agrees and acknowledges that nothing within this agreement relieves the 
Supplier of its own direct responsibilities and liabilities under the Data Protection 
Legislation.  

4.8 The Supplier shall designate a Data Protection Officer if required by the Data 
Protection Legislation. 

Page 56



36 

4.9 The Supplier shall appoint a representative within the European Union if required by 
the Data Protection Legislation. 

4.10 The Authority may, at any time on not less than 30 (thirty) working days’ notice, revise 
this paragraph by replacing it with any applicable controller to processor standard 
clauses or similar terms forming part of an applicable certification scheme (which shall 
apply when incorporated by attachment to this agreement). 

4.11  The parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office or any other replacement regulatory authority. The Authority 
may on not less than 30 (thirty) working days’ notice to the Supplier amend this 
agreement to ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the Information 
Commissioner’s Office or such other regulatory authority. 

4.12 The Supplier shall notify the Authority immediately if it considers that any of the 
Authority's instructions infringe the Data Protection Legislation. 

4.13 The provisions of this paragraph 4 shall apply during the continuance of the 
agreement and indefinitely after its expiry or termination. 

5. DATA TO BE PROVIDED BY THE AUTHORITY 

 

5.1 The Authority will provide the Data as described in Appendix 1 to the Supplier. 

 

5.2 The Authority will only provide Data which is relevant to the purpose outlined in 
paragraph 5.4. The Authority will not provide any Data it considers to be 
irrelevant or excessive. 

 

5.3 The Data provided by the Authority under this agreement may contain Personal 
Data and Special Categories of Personal Data as defined by the Data 
Protection Legislation. 

 

5.4 Data will be provided for the specific purpose set out in Appendix 1 and 
Schedule 1. 

 

5.5 All intellectual property rights in the Data shall belong to the Authority. The 
Data shall be identified, clearly recorded and marked as such by the Supplier 
on all media and in all documentation. 
 

6 OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY 

6.1 The Authority agrees that it shall ensure that it complies at all times with the Data 
Protection Legislation, and, in particular, the Authority shall ensure that any disclosure 
of Personal Data made by it to the Supplier is made with the Data Subject's consent 
or is otherwise lawful. 

6.2 For the purposes of this agreement, the provisions that provide the legal basis for this 
processing of Personal Data are listed below: 

(i) GDPR – Article 6(1)(a) - the data subject has given consent to the 

processing of his or her personal data for one or more specific purposes. 

Page 57



37 

 

(ii) GDPR – Article 6(1)(b) – processing is necessary for the performance of 

a contract to which the data subject is a party or in order to take steps at 

the request of the data subject prior to entering into a contract. 

 

(iii) GDPR – Article 6(1)(c) – processing is necessary for compliance 

with a legal obligation to which the controller is subject. 

 

(iv) GDPR – Article 6(1)(d) – processing is necessary in order to 

protect the vital interests of the data subject or another natural person. 

 

(v) GDPR – Article 6(1)(e) - processing is necessary for the performance of 

a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority 

vested in the controller 

 

(vi) GDPR – Article 6(1)(f) - processing is necessary for the purposes 

of the legitimate interests pursued by the controller or by a third party, 

except where such interests are overridden by the interests or fundamental 

rights and freedoms of the data subject which require protection of personal 

data, in particular where the data subject is a child. 

 

6.3 For the purposes of this agreement, the provisions that provide the legal basis for the 

processing of Special Categories of Personal Data are listed below: 

 

(i) GDPR – Article 9(2)(a) - The data subject has given explicit consent to the 

processing of the personal data for one or more specified purposes. 

 

(ii) GDPR – Article 9(2)(b) – processing is necessary for the carrying out of 

obligations and exercising specific rights of the controller or of the data 

Page 58



38 

subject in the field of employment and social security and social protection 

law. 

 

(iii) GDPR – Article 9(2)(c) – processing is necessary to protect the vital 

interests of the data subject or other natural person where the data subject 

is physically or legally incapable of giving consent 

 

(iv) GDPR – Article 9(2)(d) - processing is carried out in the course of its 

legitimate activities with appropriate safeguards by a foundation, 

association or any other not-for-profit body with a political, philosophical, 

religious or trade union aim and on condition that the processing relates 

solely to the members or to former members of the body or to persons 

who have regular contact with it in connection with its purposes and that 

the personal data are not disclosed outside that body without the consent 

of the data subjects; 

 

(v) GDPR – Article 9(2)(e) – processing relates to personal data which are 

manifestly made public by the data subject. 

 

(vi) GDPR – Article 9(2)(f) – processing is necessary for the establishment, 

exercise or defence of legal claims. 

 

(vii) GDPR – Article 9(2)(g) - processing is necessary for reasons of 

substantial public interest 

 

(viii) GDPR – Article 9(2)(h) - processing is necessary for the purposes of 

preventive or occupational medicine, for the assessment of the working 

capacity of the employee, medical diagnosis, the provision of health or 

social care or treatment or the management of health or social care 

systems and services is carried out 

Page 59



39 

 

(ix) GDPR – Article 9(2)(i) - processing is necessary for reasons of public 

interest in the area of public health, such as protecting against serious 

cross-border threats to health or ensuring high standards of quality and 

safety of health care and of medicinal products or medical devices, on the 

basis of Union or Member State law which provides for suitable and 

specific measures to safeguard the rights and freedoms of the data 

subject, in particular professional secrecy; 

 

(x) GDPR – Article 9(2)(j) - processing is necessary for archiving purposes in 

the public interest, scientific or historical research purposes or statistical 

purposes. 

7. SUB-PROCESSING 

 

7.1 Before allowing any Sub-processor to process any Personal Data related to this 
agreement, the Supplier must: 

 7.1 notify the Authority in writing of the intended Sub-processor and processing;  

 7.2 obtain the prior written consent of the Authority;  

7.3 enter into a written agreement with the Sub-processor which give effect to the 
terms set out in paragraph 4 such that they apply to the Sub-processor; and  

 7.4 provide the Authority with such information regarding the Sub-processor as the 
Authority may reasonably require. 

7.9 The Supplier shall remain fully liable for all acts or omissions of any Sub-processor. 

 

8. TERMINATION 

8.1 Upon termination of this agreement, the Supplier shall forthwith deliver to the Authority 
or securely destroy at the Authority's sole option and as described by the Authority in 
Appendix 1 all of the Authority's Data in its possession or under its control. 

8.2 Paragraph 8.1 is subject to the statutory requirements of retention of Data as legally 
required. 

 

9. INDEMNITIES IN RELATION TO DATA PROCESSING 

9.1 The Supplier shall be liable for and shall indemnify (and keep indemnified) the Authority 
against each and every action, proceeding, liability, cost, claim, loss, monetary penalty, 
expense (including reasonable legal fees and disbursements on a solicitor client basis) 
and demands incurred by the Authority which arise directly as a result of the Supplier’s 

Page 60



40 

breach or negligence of the data processing activities under this agreement or non-
compliance of the processor obligations under the Data Protection Legislation.  

9.2 The Parties acknowledge the provisions of Regulation 82 of the GDPR and any 
claim made by the Authority under clause 9.1 shall be considered against the 
provisions of Regulation 82. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



41 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 TO SCHEDULE 5  

 

Processing, Personal Data and Data Subjects 

 
 

1. The Supplier shall comply  with  any  further  written  instructions  with  

respect  to processing provided by the Authority. 

 

2. Any such further instructions shall be incorporated into this Appendix. 

 

Description Description 

Subject matter of the 

processing 

 

 

Processing of Data which may include Personal Data and 
Sensitive Personal Data in order to provide the Services  

Duration of the 

processing 

 

As long as is fair and necessary to carry out the Services 

Nature and purposes of 

the processing 

To process the information in order to undertake the Services in 
relation to the Authority’s procurement activities. The data to be 
processed shall be done so in accordance with Data Protection 
legislation. 

Type of Personal Data Names, addresses, contact details of tenderers/members of the 
public and those submitting tenders relating to the Authority’s 
contracts. Names, addresses and information relating to any of 
the Authority’s employees which may be subject to TUPE in 
certain circumstances. 

Categories of Data 

Subject 

Tenderers, members of the public and employees 

Page 62



42 

Plan for return and 

destruction of the data 
once the processing is 
complete UNLESS 
requirement under union or 
member state law to 
preserve that type of data 

The Personal Data provided under this agreement shall not be 
kept any longer than necessary and if requested by the 
Authority must be returned to the Authority, destroyed or erased 
(including all copies whether paper or electronic) by the 
Supplier. The Data shall be destroyed in an appropriate 
manner, as follows: 

 

• All electronic data must be destroyed in an appropriate 
manner which renders it irretrievable. This could be logically, 
physically, digitally or magnetically destroyed. 

 

• All paper documents should be immediately strip 
shredded or incinerated. 

 

The Supplier will provide the Authority with confirmation in 
writing that all the Data has been destroyed, the date of 
destruction and the manner of destruction 

 

 

Page 63



CABINET – 15TH OCTOBER 2020 
 

Report of the Strategic Director - Commercial Development 
Lead Member: Councillor Jonathan Morgan, Leader of the Council 

 
Part A 

 
ITEM COMMERCIALISM POSITION STATEMENT 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
The report contains the Council’s Position Statement on Commercialism and how it is 
intended to realise the initiative. 
 
Recommendation 
 
That Cabinet note and approve the Commercialism Position Statement. 
 
Reason 
 
To provide clarity to Members and Officers on the meaning and rationale underpinning 
Charnwood’s commercialism aims. 
 
Policy Justification and Previous Decisions 
 
To date, the Council has lacked a Position Statement which outlines the definition and 
direction of Commercialism. In March 2020, the Strategic Director – Corporate 
Services brought a paper entitled “Approach to Commercialism” paper to both Scrutiny 
Commission and Cabinet, noting that a Commercialism Strategy / Position would follow 
in due course; what follows in Part B is that Statement. The Position Statement also 
takes into account the work done by the recent Scrutiny Panel on Commercialisation. 
 
Implementation Timetable including Future Decisions and Scrutiny 
 
The report is available for Scrutiny Commission to consider, and if approved, adoption 
will take effect immediately, subject to call-in. 
 
Report Implications 
 
The following implications have been identified for this report. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
None 
 
Risk Management 
 
There are no specific risks associated with this decision. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
None 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9b



 
Crime and Disorder 
 
None 
 
Sustainability 
 
None 
 
 
Key Decision:   No  
 
Background Papers:  None 
 
Officer to contact:   Justin Henry 
     Strategic Director – Commercial Development 

07802 760618 
justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk  

 

Page 65

mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk


Part B 
 

Charnwood Borough Council Position Statement on Commercialism 

 

As a result of the very significant, sustained financial reductions in Central 
Government funding, as well as increased Budget pressures resulting from 
COVID19 and inflationary pressures Charnwood Borough Council finds its 
Budget facing more challenges than ever before.  

Adopting commercial behaviours, principles and approaches is the best 
possible option in the Council’s control to sustain its budget and maintain as 
many services for residents as possible. The adoption of these elements will be 
supported directly by various strategies and policies coming forward. This 
document aims to address the specific elements required of Councillors and 
Officers to move the Council forward. 

 

I. The Council’s definition of Commercialism 

The Council’s accepted definition of commercialism has 3 broad aspects: 

1. Generating surplus and reducing subsidy: whether a surplus is generated 
from new income or the Council reduces its operating costs, the end result 
is the same – pressure will be eased on the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
and the General Fund Revenue Account. 

2. Commissioning: the Council already commissions several of its services and 
there is potentially scope to improve this, whether by sourcing alternative 
providers, commissioning new services, and/or improving the contractually 
agreed terms and outputs.  

3. Behaving Commercially: Fundamental to the previous two aspects, adopting 
more “commercial” behaviours is essential. The forthcoming People 
Strategy will address this aspect.  

II. The Council’s Position 

The Council recognises the need to balance bold, innovative action with social 
value creation when considering any commercial venture. In addition, the 
Council also recognises the need for achieving best value and efficiency in both 
service delivery and commercial activity. As such, the following areas will be 
considered more favourably when evaluating which activities should be 
pursued: 

• Investment in regeneration activity that supports strategic development 
aims and generates a financial return. 

• Where the impact on local business is minimised. 

• Where Charnwood’s reputation, locally and nationally, would be 
enhanced. 

This position statement does not seek to serve as an action plan; the 
projects/actions listed later in this document are/will be managed via 
independent projects and progress will be reported using their respective 
channels. 

Page 66



In March 2020, Scrutiny Commission and Cabinet received, noted and approved 
the recommendations set out in a report from the Strategic Director – Corporate 
Services (the S151 Officer) on the Council’s approach to commercialism. In the 
report, the S151 officer outlined the Criteria for considering any commercial 
venture:  

“Criteria for considering the range of commercial opportunities 

1. Can income be generated at scale?  

2. Can income streams be developed (at scale) within the next financial 
year?  

3. Can the income streams be delivered with relative certainty?  

4. Are there significant financial risks associated with the opportunity?  

5. Is there a track record within the Council – or other local authorities – 
which demonstrate the opportunity is viable?  

6. Does the Council have any commercial advantage in addressing an 
opportunity compared to the private sector (or – potentially – 
neighbouring local authorities or other public bodies)?  

7. (Conversely) is the Council at a commercial disadvantage compared to 
existing players in the market who may have existing brands, 
infrastructure or track record of service delivery?  

8. Could the private sector respond to the Council entering the market by 
competing aggressively – e.g. through price competition - such that an 
initial or extended period of trading losses might ensue?  

9. Does the Commercial opportunity come with significant legal or regulatory 
risk?  

10.Does the Council have skills and capacity within the existing workforce 
that enable the delivery of the commercial opportunity?  

11.Could the Council easily access skills and capacity from the employment 
/ interim / consultancy markets that that enable the delivery of the 
commercial opportunity?  

12.Are there political or ethical reasons which may constrain the Council’s 
ability to provide services on a commercial basis? “ 

 

Therefore, any potential commercial aspect will be graded against these criteria 
and assessed independently. Given the complex and many faceted aspects of 
any opportunity, there is no strict level for pass/fail; opportunities will be 
assessed on their merits. 

It should be noted that not all ‘commercial ventures’ attempted by Local 
Authorities have been successful, nor have they delivered all of the benefits 
envisaged. From the most recent high-profile failure of a Council owned energy 
company (Robin Hood Energy) to smaller efforts such as commercial trade 
waste services, not all ventures are successful or will even survive. Indeed the 
Office for National Statistics maintains data on business births and deaths 
across the UK and states that the 5 year survival rate for businesses born in 

Page 67



2013 was 42.4%1, meaning that out of every 10 business ventures started, only 
4 will last more than 5 years. 

This sobering statistic highlights the reality that no matter how viable a business 
may appear in the initial planning stage, the odds are not in favour of the 
business surviving longer term, though some clearly do succeed. Furthermore, 
forecasted net margins must be sufficient to warrant the undertaking, as it is 
only the net margin that will bolster the Council’s bottom line, not turnover. 
Should the Council wish to undertake commercial ventures as ‘small 
businesses’, stringent planning and viability must be undertaken in the first 
instance. Furthermore, in an environment where Officers are being asked to do 
more with less time and money, the additional efforts in terms of net margin 
must be sufficiently realised to warrant the additional effort and pressure placed 
on employees.   

III. Necessary behaviours 

The Strategic Direction document that accompanies the Corporate Strategy 
2020-24 and sets out the key operating principles the Council will adopt to 
achieve its objectives and deliver outstanding services for residents. The 
direction laid out that relates to our people states, “The Council will… 

• develop and encourage leadership at all levels of the Council 

• empower employees to take responsibility for the work they do and 

focus on achieving outcome 

• create an agile and flexible workforce which is focused on improving 

the lives of residents and achieving outcomes…” 

The forthcoming People Strategy (Jan 2021) will reference a Management 
Charter to be developed which will summarise the future role of managers within 
the organisation, together with a more detailed leadership and management 
competencies framework. The management development programme will 
expand and adapt to provide appropriate learning and development 
opportunities at all levels of the organisation.  These development opportunities 
will include a mixture of e-learning, online and face-to-face events and we will 
look for varied and greater opportunities to share good practice  

The adoption of a commercial approach is key to this upcoming People Strategy 
and will necessarily bring cultural challenge to the organisation. The key 
commercial behaviours that should be developed within the Council are: 

• Making quick, sound decisions that are evidence based 

• Accepting and embracing change 

• Being risk aware, not risk averse 

• Allowing failure and viewing it as a growth experience 

• Changing opinions/approaches swiftly when evidence supports 

• Maintaining focus on robust business cases and on Return on 
Investment 

 
1 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/activitysizeandlocation/bulletins/businessd
emography/2018#business-births-and-deaths-rates-2013-to-2018 

Page 68



IV. Areas of Focus 

Several key projects of activity have been identified (and in some cases, have 
already started) which fall into the Council’s definition of Commercialism. Those 
listed below will form the first tranche of activity. New projects may be 
introduced, where they will be put under analysis and scrutiny at the relevant 
project board prior to being implemented. 

Area Commencement 
Date 

1. Commercial focus and analysis: The 
Council will adopt a commercial 
approach to analysis and execution, 
focusing on robust business cases, 
delivery of Return on Investment and 
evidence-based assessment of need 
and value. This will include an analysis 
of all options available. This delivery is 
supported by the Strategic Director – 
Commercial Development, who will 
provide guidance and facilitate training 
for employees who require it. 

Ongoing 

2. Service Reviews: The Council will 
evaluate current services to ensure that 
services are delivered in an efficient 
manner and that income opportunities 
are captured. 

Ongoing 

3. Reconfiguring procurement and 
contracts: The Council commissions a 
significant level of service and supply in 
delivering services. This level of spend, 
as well as the management of 
contracts currently in place will be 
reviewed and where able will be 
reconfigured. Further, further support in 
this area will be delivered as well as 
enhanced Contract Procedure Rules, 
enhancing accountability and 
responsibility.  

Cabinet paper for 
approval of 

proposed changes 
15 Oct 2020 

4. Asset Restructuring: The Council owns 
significant numbers of assets in the 
Borough. Some of these assets deliver 
much needed income to the Council; 
opportunities to increase the revenue 
generating capability of these assets 
will be pursued. Conversely, several 
Council assets carry heavy costs of 
occupation in relation to the level of 
income, if any, that they deliver. Where 
limited opportunity for net income 
generation exists, the Council will seek 

Ongoing 

Page 69



Area Commencement 
Date 

to potentially redevelop these 
opportunities to minimise costs and 
ensure that the asset is fit for purpose.  

5. Investment: The Council will in parallel 
look to invest capital in regeneration 
and commercial opportunities to deliver 
net benefits in growth and income to 
the Council in line with the Council’s 
Capital and Investment Strategies. 

Ongoing 

6. Energy and Carbon Neutrality: The 
Council will look to invest in energy 
saving measures as well as renewable 
energy sources where credible 
business cases exist and deliver net 
benefits to the Council.  

Ongoing 

 

 

Page 70



 

 

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 12TH OCTOBER 2020 
 

Report of the Cabinet 
 
ITEM 10    SCRUTINY COMMISSION PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY – 

CABINET RESPONSE 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
To set out the Cabinet’s responses to the recommendations of the Commission on pre-
decision scrutiny items. 
 
Action Requested 
 
To note the Cabinet’s responses to the recommendations submitted by the 
Commission on items considered for pre-decision scrutiny.   
 
Policy Context 
 
One of the principles of effective scrutiny, identified by the Centre for Public 
Governance and Scrutiny, is “provide a constructive critical friend challenge to the 
Executive”. 
 
Pre-decision Scrutiny 
 
Since the meeting of the Commission on 6th July 2020, the Cabinet has considered 
the following items on which the Commission undertook pre-decision scrutiny: 
 

A. ANNUAL HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT 2019-20 
 

B. CHARNWOOD COMMUNITY LOTTERY REVIEW 
 

C. PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) LOUGHBOROUGH TOWN 
CENTRE 

 
Details of the Commission’s consideration of the items as reported to the Cabinet on 
the 17th September 2020 can be found in the minutes from the Commission’s meeting 
on 14th September 2020. 
 
The Chair of the Commission, Councillor Seaton, attended the Cabinet’s meeting on 
the 9th July 2020 to present the Commission’s reports to the Cabinet. 
 
Cabinet Response  
 
The Cabinet considered the Commission’s reports and acknowledged the work 
undertaken and the views of the Commission.  In particular, the Cabinet responded as 
follows to the reports: 
 
Annual Health and Safety Report 2019-20 
 
The Cabinet adopted the officer recommendations as set out in the report, which the 
Commission had supported. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



 

 

 
Charnwood Community Lottery Review 
 
The Cabinet adopted the officer recommendations as set out in the report, which the 
Commission had supported. 
 
Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) Loughborough Town Centre 
 
The Cabinet adopted the officer recommendations as set out in the report, which the 
Commission had supported. 
 
Report Implications 
 
The following implications have been identified for this report: 
 
Financial Implications  
 
None. 
 
Risk Management  
 
No risks have been identified in connection with this report. 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Officer to contact:   Sally Watson 

Democratic Services Officer 
    01509 634969 
    sally.watson@charnwood.gov.uk  
 

Page 72

mailto:sally.watson@charnwood.gov.uk


SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 12TH OCTOBER 2020 
 

Report of the Head of Strategic Support 
 
ITEM 11   SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
To enable the Commission to review its own work programme, including considering 
the list of forthcoming Executive Key Decisions in order to schedule items for pre-
decision scrutiny. 
 
Work Programme  
 
The Commission’s current work programme is attached at Appendix 1.  Currently the 
work programme consists of items concerned with the Commission’s roles in 
overseeing the scrutiny function and undertaking pre-decision scrutiny. 
 
At its meeting on 1st June 2020 the Commission resolved to temporarily revise the 
agenda for six months, until 30th November 2020, in response to the Centre for Public 
Governance and Scrutiny guidance on scrutiny during the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
As a result of these resolutions, the Commission’s Work Programme would focus on 
the following until the ordinary agenda resumes; 
 

 A single substantive agenda item for each meeting to concentrate on one of the 
Council’s recovery cells; organisational recovery, economic recovery and 
community recovery, 

 A strengthened relationship between the Scrutiny Commission and the Audit 
Committee, 

 The use of ‘Questions under Scrutiny Committee Procedure 11.16’ as set out 
in the Constitution. 

 The ordinary pre-decision scrutiny of scheduled Cabinet items. 
 
At it’s meeting on 14th September 2020, the Commission added the following items to 
its work programme: 
 

i. Pre-decision Scrutiny – Changes to Procurement Service - To consider entering 
into a public to public SLA to deliver the Procurement Service on behalf of the 
Council (12th October 2020). 
 

ii. Commercialisation Update - To review the commercialisation development 
plans and the progress against the recommendations made by the 
Commercialisation Scrutiny Panel, six months after its recommendations were 
considered by the Cabinet. This would need to include commercial entities that 
the Council had become involved in and any commercial opportunities the 
Council was seeking (11th January 2020). 

 
 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



Key Decisions 
 
To enable the Commission to be aware of the Key Decisions to be taken by the 
Cabinet over the coming months and to determine which, if any, of these items should 
be programmed for pre-decision scrutiny, details of forthcoming Exempt and Key 
Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet are attached as Appendix 2. 
 
Items dated prior to this meeting have been removed from the Appendix to avoid 
confusion. 
 

 

Appendices: Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Commission Work 
Programme 
 
Appendix 2 – Notice of Key Decisions 
 
 

Background Papers: 
 

None 

Officer to Contact: Karen Widdowson 
Democratic Services Manager 
(01509) 634785 
Karen.widdowson@charnwood.gov.uk 

 

Page 74



 
 

Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME TEMPORARILY REVISED UNTIL 30 NOVEMBER 2020 

 (Agreed Scrutiny Commission 1 June 2020, minute reference 6 2020/21) 

 
Responsible 

Body 
Meeting 

Date 

 
Issue 

Scope of Item / Terms 

of 
Referen

ce 

 
Reason for Scrutiny 

Invitees / Officers 
 

Progress / Notes / 
Action Requested 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

12 October 
2020 
 
(standard 
item) 

Questions under 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
Procedure 11.16 

In response to the 
CfPGS guidance to 
scrutiny during the 
Covid-19 pandemic, this 
existing function will be 
promoted to encourage 
public participation. 

  Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 1 June 
2020, min ref 5 
2020/21 

 
 
 
 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

 
12 October 
2020 

 
(if applicable, 
standing item) 

 
Pre-decision 
scrutiny of any 
specific financial 
matters to be 
considered by 
Cabinet 

 To ensure pre-decision 
scrutiny of any out-turn 
reports, virements and in- 

year service pressures, 
particularly when they are 
related to additional costs arising 
from decisions by other agencies 
to reduce services. 

 
 
 

K.Widdowson (report)  
 

Lead Officer (meeting) 

 
Agreed by SMB 23 
January 2019 (see 
minute 31.2) 
(supports 
recommendation of 
Budget Scrutiny 
Panel Jan 2019). 

 
To be identified from 
the Key Decisions 

Notice or from the 
Cabinet agenda. 

 
 
 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

 
12 October  
2020 

 
(standing item) 

 
 

Cabinet items for 
pre- decision 
scrutiny 

  

To allow identification of items 
from the latest Key Decisions 
Notice for pre- decision scrutiny 
by the Commission. 

K.Widdowson (report) 
 

Lead Officer (meeting) 

Items may also be 
determined by the 

Chair and Vice-
chair in 
consultation with 
the Democratic 
Services 
Manager. 
Further 
items may 
also be 
added 
following  

publication of the 
Cabinet agenda. 

APPENDIX 1 

P
age 75



 
 

Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 

 

 
 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

12 October 
2020 

 
(standing item) 

 

Pre-decision 
scrutiny – Cabinet 
Response 

 To consider the response of 
Cabinet to recommendations by 
the Commission on pre- decision 
scrutiny items. 

 
K.Widdowson 

(report)  
 

Lead Officer (meeting) 

 
 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

12 October 
2020 

Pre-decision 
Scrutiny – 
Changes to 
Procurement 
Service 

To consider entering 
into a public to public 
SLA to deliver the 
Procurement Service on 
behalf of the Council. 

 Justin Henry Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 14 
September 2020 min 
ref 55 2020/21 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

12 October 
2020 

 

 

Audit Committee 
Update 

CfPGS guidance to 
scrutiny during the 
Covid-19 pandemic 
recommends  that the 
relationship between 
scrutiny and audit be  
strengthened.  Following 
the Annual Council 
appointments this matter 
will be reviewed and a 
report setting out the 
approach will be 
produced.   

  Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 1 June 
2020, min ref 5 
2020/21 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

12 October 
2020 

Review of Scrutiny 
Function 
Suspensions 

To review the impact of 
the pandemic on 
scrutiny and to decide 
whether the suspension 
of panel work and 
directorate based 
committees should 
remain. 

  Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 1 June 
2020, min ref 5 
2020/21 

P
age 76



 
 

Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 

 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

11 January 
2021 

Commercialisation 
Update 

To review the 
commercialisation 
development plans 
and the progress 
against the 
recommendations 
made by the 
Commercialisation 
Scrutiny Panel, six 
months after its 
recommendations 
were considered by 
the Cabinet. This 
would need to include 
commercial entities 
that the Council had 
become involved in 
and any commercial 
opportunities the 
Council was seeking. 

 Justin Henry Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 14 
September 2020, min 
ref 55 2020/21 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

To be 
programmed 

EXEMPT ITEM –
Pre-decision 
scrutiny-  Building 
Control Alternative 
Service Delivery 
Project  

 Pre-decision scrutiny item. Richard Bennett Item deferred from 
January meeting of the 
Commission. 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

To be 
programmed 

PROVISIONAL 
Private Sector 
Licensing Scheme 
Update  

 In the event that HPRRS 
Scrutiny Committee does not 
review the report due to timing 
issues, and had not already 
reviewed the report in March 
2020. 

Alison Simmons Agreed by the 
Commission at its 
meeting on 13th 
January 2020 

P
age 77



 
 

Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 

 

 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

 
November 
2020 
(Standing item) 

 
Scrutiny Work 
Programme and 
Requests 
from Scrutiny 
Committees 

 To review the 
Commission’s Work 
Programme. 

 
To consider the Scrutiny 
Work Programme in its 
entirety to ensure the 
Commission’s role in 
managing that programme is 
undertaken. 

 
To consider any requests from 
scrutiny committees that items 
be added to the work 
programme which are not 
within their own remit or that 
scrutiny panels be 
established. 

 
K.Widdowson 

(report)  
 

Lead Officer (meeting) 

 

 
Scrutiny 
Commission 

November 2020 
 
(standing item) 

Progress with 
Panel Work 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

To review progress with 
Scrutiny Panels. 

K Widdowson  
 
 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

November 2020 Draft Annual 
Scrutiny Report 
2019-20 
(annual item – 
April) 

  Dem Services Manager Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 1 June 
2020, min ref 12 
2020/21 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

To be 
programmed 

Children and 
Families Wellbeing 
Service Update 

To provide an update of the 
service at Leicestershire 
County Council which was 
reviewed by the 
Neighbourhoods and 
Community Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee on 10 
March 2020. 

  Agreed Scrutiny 
Commission 1 June 
2020, min ref 10 

P
age 78



 
 

Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 

 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

To be 
programmed 

Air Quality Review 
and Assessment 
Report 2019 

 Update on the Council’s Air 
Quality Plan for 2019.  

Alan Twells and Lead Officer Item deferred from 9 
March 2020 at the 
Scrutiny Commission 
meeting on 10 
February 2020.  
Deferred from 1 June 
2020 following 
consultation with Chair 
and Vice Chair. 
Chair and Vice Chair 
agreed further 
deferment. Scrutiny 

Commission 
January 2021  

(Quarterly) 

Scrutiny Tracker  Allow the Commission to review 
the Scrutiny Tracker 

Democratic Services Manager Agreed by the 
Commission at its 
meeting on 13th 
January 2020. 

 
 
 

Scrutiny 
Commission 

 
 

February 
2021 

 
(annual item) 

 
 
 

Corporate 
Delivery Plan 
2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consideration of draft plan to 
ensure scrutiny input. 

 
Plan due to be considered by 
and agreed by Cabinet in 
March 2021. 

 

 
Leader/ 

R.Mitchell/S. 
Kinder 

 
 
 

*Short timescale 
between committee 
and 
Cabinet 
consideration. 

 

 

 
 

  

P
age 79



 
 

Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 

 

 

Formal Scrutiny Panels 
 

Due to officer capacity there is an agreement that no more than 4 scrutiny panels (Formal and Express) should be convened during any given 
period.  

 

Scrutiny panels currently suspended until 30 November 2020 (agreed Scrutiny Commission 1 June 2020, minute reference 5 2020/21). 

 
 

                 
 

P
age 80



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 

FORTHCOMING KEY 
DECISIONS AND DECISIONS 
TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

BY CHARNWOOD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL’S EXECUTIVE 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Published 
16th September 2020 

 

 
What is a Key Decision? 
A key decision is one which: 

• commits the Council to expenditure, savings or increases or 
reductions in income of £150,000 or more in any financial 
year;  

• makes proposals in relation to the budget or the policy 
framework under Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
14.2(a); or 

• will result in the closure of any facility from which Borough 
Council services are provided or a reduction by more than 
10% in the level of a discrete service provided. 

 
In other cases, the impact of the decision will be considered in 
terms of the strategic nature of the decision, the effect on the 
amenity of the community or quality of service provided by the 
Council to a significant number of people living or working in the 
locality affected, the size of the area affected and the likely 
public interest in the decision.  
 
What is a Private Meeting? 
Meetings of the Council’s Cabinet are open to the public to 
attend.   All or part of a meeting may be held in private, where 
the item of business to be considered may result in confidential 
or exempt information being disclosed. Definitions of confidential 
and exempt information are set out in the Access to Information 
Procedures in the Council’s Constitution. 
  
Representations 
Members of the public are able to make representations about 
forthcoming key decisions to be taken by the Council’s 
Executive, these should be made in writing (including via e-mail) 
to the responsible officer (details are listed for each proposed 
key decision).  Members of the public are also able to make 
representations concerning proposals to hold a meeting in 
private, these should be made in writing (including via e-mail) to 
Democratic Services (contact details below).   In both cases, 
representations should be submitted by midday on the working 
day preceding the date on which the decision is due to be taken. 

 
Other information 
This document supersedes all previous Forward Plans. 
 
 
If you have any general queries, please contact: 
 
Karen Widdowson 
Democratic Services Manager 
Charnwood Borough Council, 
Southfield Road, Loughborough, Leicestershire, LE11 2TX 
Tel: 01509 634785 
Email: democracy@charnwood.gov.uk    

Page 81

mailto:democracy@charnwood.gov.uk
Sallywa
Text Box
APPENDIX 2



 2 

FORTHCOMING EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS 
 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Public Space 
Protection Order 
(PSPO) Loughborough 
Town Centre 

To consider approval to extend the Public Space 
Protection Order for Loughborough Town Centre, 
following consultation. 

Cabinet 17th 
September 
2020 

Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Amendments to 
Annual Procurement 
Plan 

To consider possible amendments to the Annual 
Procurement Plan. 

Cabinet 17th 
September 
2020 

Report Yes Justin Henry 
Strategic Director – 
Commercial Development 
Tel: 

justin.henry@charnwood.

gov.uk 
o Interim General Fund 

Budget 
To recommend to Council a revised (in-year) General 
Fund budget covering the 2020/21 financial year. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

15th October 
2020 
 
9th November 
2020 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

o Revised Capital Plan 
2020-2023 

To recommend to Council a revised Capital Plan 
covering the period (financial years) 2020/21 - 
2022/23. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

15th October 
2020 
 
9th November 
2020 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

o Updated Capital 
Strategy 2020/21 

To recommend to Council an updated Capital Strategy 
covering the financial year 2020/21. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

15th October 
2020 
 
9th November 
2020 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

o Procurement Service – 
Changes To 

To consider entering into a public to public SLA to 
deliver the Procurement Service on behalf of the 
Council. 

Cabinet 15th October 
2020 

Report Yes Justin Henry 
Strategic Director – 
Commercial Development 
Tel: 

justin.henry@charnwood.

gov.uk  

P
age 82

mailto:julie.robinson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:julie.robinson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk


 3 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

o Charnwood Enterprise 
Zone Forward Funding 

To note the forward funding arrangements proposed 
for the Enterprise Zone and to give specific approval to 
enter into a loan that will facilitate development of the 
Enterprise Zone site. 

Cabinet 15th October 
2020 

Report No Simon Jackson 
Strategic Director of 
Corporate Services 
Tel: 01509 634699 
simon.jackson@charnwo
od.gov.uk  

o Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
2021-2024 

To present a revised MTFS to Cabinet and Council for 
approval. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

19th November 
2020 
 
18th January 
2021 
 

Report 
 
 
Report 

Yes 
 
 
Yes 

Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

o Shepshed Town 
Centre Public Realm 
Improvement Project  

To consider approval of preferred scheme design 
following public consultation, entering into legal 
agreements with County Highways Authority to 
develop final technical scheme design, entering into 
contracts to commission consultants to develop 
proposals further and acceptance of grant funding 
towards project from LLEP Business Rates Pool. 
 

Cabinet 19th November 
2020 

Report Yes Richard Bennett 
Head of Planning and 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01509 634763 
richard.bennett@charnwo
od.gov.uk 

o Bedford Square 
Gateway Project 

To consider approval of the final scheme design and 
proceed to the appointment of contractors to deliver 
the street works. 

Cabinet 19th November 
2020 

Report  No Richard Bennett 
Head of Planning and 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01509 634763 
richard.bennett@charnwo
od.gov.uk 

Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy 
2020-2024 

To approve/adopt a revised Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy 2020-24. 

Cabinet 10th December 
2020 

Report Yes Simon Jackson 
Strategic Director of 
Corporate Services 
Tel: 01509 634699 
simon.jackson@charnwo
od.gov.uk 

o Draft General Fund 
and HRA 2021-22 
Budgets 

To seek approval to the Draft Revenue Budget for 
2021-22 as a basis for consultation. 

Cabinet 10th December 
2020 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

P
age 83

mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk


 4 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
 
Council 

10th December 
2020 
 
18th January 
2021 
 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Amendments to 
Annual Procurement 
Plan 

To consider possible amendments to the Annual 
Procurement Plan. 

Cabinet 10th December 
2020 

Report Yes Justin Henry 
Strategic Director – 
Commercial Development 
Tel: 

justin.henry@charnwood.

gov.uk 
Discretionary Private 
Sector Housing 
Licensing Scheme 
Proposals 

To approve proposals for a Private Sector Licensing 
Scheme following the consultation exercise. To 
approve the Communication Strategy for the promotion 
and implementation of the Private Sector Licensing 
Scheme. To authorise the resources required to 
implement and resource the Private Sector Licensing 
Scheme. 
 

Cabinet 10th December 
2020 

Report Yes Alison Simmons 
Head of Strategic and 
Private Sector Housing  
Tel: 01509 634780 
alison.simmons@charnw
ood.gov.uk  

Capital Strategy, 
Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, 
Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy and 
Annual Investment 
Strategy 2021-22 
 

To seek approval to a Capital Strategy, Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 
2021-22 and the annual report on the Prudential Code, 
for recommendation to Council. 

Cabinet 
 
Council 

11th February 
2021 
 
22nd February 
2021 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

2021-22 General Fund 
and HRA Revenue 
Budgets and Council 
Tax 

To seek approval to the Revenue Budget, Capital 
Plan, Financial Plan for 2021-22 and to propose the 
Council Tax for approval by Council. 

Cabinet 
 
Council 

11th February 
2021 
 
22nd February 
2021 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

P
age 84

mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:alison.simmons@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:alison.simmons@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk


 5 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
Council 

11th March 
2021 
 
26th April 2021 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk  

Annual Procurement 
Plan 2021/22 

To seek approval to the Annual Procurement Plan for 
2021/22. 

Cabinet 11th March 
2021 
 

Report Yes Justin Henry 
Strategic Director – 
Commercial Development 
Tel: 

justin.henry@charnwood.

gov.uk 

Housing Capital 
Programme 

To approve the annual investment programme for 
improvements to the Council’s housing stock.  

Cabinet 11th March 
2021 
 

Report Yes Peter Oliver 
Head of Landlord 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634952 
peter.oliver@charnwood.
gov.uk  

Local Development 
Scheme 

To approve a revised Local Development Scheme 
(LDS) so that the programme for the preparation of 
planning documents for Charnwood is agreed. 

Cabinet 11th March 
2021 

Report Yes Richard Bennett 
Head of Planning and 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01509 634763 
richard.bennett@charnwo
od.gov.uk  

Corporate Delivery 
Plan 2021/22 

To set out the Council’s principal activities in delivering 
the Corporate Strategy for the Council Year 2021/22. 

Cabinet 11th March 
2021 

Report Yes Adrian Ward 
Head of Strategic Support 
Tel: 01509 634573 
adrian.ward@charnwood.
gov.uk  

Charnwood Grants To consider applications for revenue funding received 
in round one of the Community Facilities Capital 
Grants and Community Development Grant Schemes 
for 2021/22. 

Cabinet 3rd June 2021 Report Yes Julie Robinson 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
Tel: 01509 634590 
julie.robinson@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

P
age 85

mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:peter.oliver@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:peter.oliver@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.ward@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.ward@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:julie.robinson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:julie.robinson@charnwood.gov.uk


 6 

Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? 
Who will 
take the 

decision? 

When is the 
earliest a 

decision will 
be taken? 

Documents 
to be 

considered? 

Will the report be 
considered in 

public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Capital Plan Outturn 
2020/21 

To report the Council’s capital expenditure results for 
2020/21 subject to audit. 

Cabinet 1st July 2021 Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk  

General Fund and 
HRA Revenue Outturn 
Report (2020/21) and 
Carry Forward of 
Budgets 

To report the Council’s revenue expenditure results for 
2020/21 subject to audit.  

Cabinet 1st July 2021 Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
Council 

1st July 2021 
 
6th September 
2021 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk  

Amendments to 
Annual Procurement 
Plan 

To consider possible amendments to the Annual 
Procurement Plan. 

Cabinet 1st July 2021 Report  Yes Justin Henry 
Strategic Director – 
Commercial Development 
Tel: 

justin.henry@charnwood.

gov.uk 

Capital Plan 
Amendment Report 

To consider and approve amendments to the Capital 
Plan. 

Cabinet 
 
 
 
Council 

16th 
September 
2021 
 
8th November 
2021 

Report Yes Lesley Tansey 
Head of Finance and 
Property Services 
Tel: 01509 634828 
lesley.tansey@charnwoo
d.gov.uk 

 
 

P
age 86

mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:justin.henry@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:lesley.tansey@charnwood.gov.uk


 7 

EXECUTIVE MEETINGS TO BE HELD IN PRIVATE 
 

The following items are due to be considered by the Council’s Cabinet and the public could potentially be excluded since exempt or 
confidential information could be considered.  

 
Decision Item What is the nature of decision to be taken? Who will 

take the 
decision? 

When is 
the earliest 
a decision 
will be 
taken? 

Documents 
to be 
considered? 

Will the report 
be 
considered in 
public? 

Who can give me more 
information? 

Charnwood Enterprise 
Zone Forward Funding 

To note the forward funding arrangements proposed 
for the Enterprise Zone and to give specific approval to 
enter into a loan that will facilitate development of the 
Enterprise Zone site. 

Cabinet 15th 
October 
2020 

Report No Simon Jackson 
Strategic Director of 
Corporate Services 
Tel: 01509 634699 
simon.jackson@charnwood.
gov.uk 

Bedford Square 
Gateway Project 

To consider approval of the final scheme design and 
proceed to the appointment of contractors to deliver 
the street works. 

Cabinet 19th 
November 
2020 

Report No Richard Bennett 
Head of Planning and 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01509 634763 
richard.bennett@charnwood
.gov.uk 

 
When items are considered in exempt or confidential session, the reasons for exemption would fall into one or more of the following 
categories: 
1. Information relating to any individual. 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 

labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the 
authority. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

P
age 87

mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jackson@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk
mailto:richard.bennett@charnwood.gov.uk


 8 

CABINET MEMBERS 
 
Members of the Council’s Cabinet are as follows: 
 

 Name (Group) Lead Member Responsibilities 

Councillor Morgan 
(Conservative) 
 

Leader of the Council 
Strategic Relationships, Investments and 
Development, Regeneration, Communications 
and Inward Investment  
 
 Councillor Barkley 

(Conservative) 
Deputy Leader of the Council 
Finance and Property Services 

Councillor Bailey 
(Conservative) 

Planning 

Councillor Bokor 
(Conservative) 

Loughborough 

Councillor Harper-Davies 
(Conservative) 

Community Support and Equalities 

Councillor Mercer 
(Conservative) 

Private Housing 

Councillor Poland 
(Conservative) 

Public Housing 

Councillor Rattray 
(Conservative) 

  Business Support 

Councillor Rollings 
  (Conservative) 

 Transformation 

Councillor Smidowicz 
(Conservative) 

Strategic Support 

 
 
 

Page 88


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Review of Scrutiny Function Arising from the Covid-19 Pandemic
	9a Changes to the Procurement Service
	9b Commercialisation Position Statement
	10 Scrutiny Commission Pre-decision Scrutiny - Cabinet Response
	11 Scrutiny Commission Work Programme
	SC 12 Oct 2020 Item 11 - APP 1 - Current Scrutiny Commission Scrutiny Work Programme
	04. Notice of Executive Key Decisions and Exempt Items - Published 16 Sept 2020




